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COMPANY PROFILE

With over 19 years of operating private schools in China, the Group is one of the leading private
school operators in China in terms of student enrolment.

The Group’s fundamental educational objectives are to foster modern talent with leadership and
lifelong learning capabilities and nurture great minds to contribute to the future development of the
Chinese nation (WEEABRESRMNB E2EFRNNEARCAT » RRERKNEXNEHFRENE").
As an educational service provider, the Group believes it is entrusted to nurture the future of society,
and aims to provide educational services in a manner consistent with the values and attitudes of
the Group. The curriculums for the Group’s university and K-12 schools not only accommodate the
students’ eagerness to achieve academic excellence, but also emphasise well-rounded development.

The business of the Group remained relatively stable for the year ended 31 August 2020. The Group
intends to continue to expand its school network and ensure delivery of high-quality education to its
students by making continuous improvements to the educational infrastructure available.

As at 23 November 2020, for the school year 2020/2021, the Group had enrollment of an aggregate

number of 143,412 students. As at 31 August 2020, the Group employed an aggregate of 6,938
employees.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PRINCIPAL BANKER

PLACE OF BUSINESS IN CHINA China Construction Bank Corporation
No. 21, 4/F, Block 10 Jinshui Road Branch of Zhengzhou
3 Mazhuang Street No. 29, Jinshui Road
Zhengdong New District Zhengzhou, Henan Province
Zhengzhou, PRC PRC
PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND COMPANY WEBSITE

TRANSFER OFFICE www.yuhuachina.com
Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093, Boundary Hall STOCK CODE
Cricket Square 6169

Grand Cayman, KY1-1102
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

4 CHINA YUHUA EDUCATION CORPORATION LIMITED



FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following table sets out a comparison between key financial figures for the years ended 31 August
2020 and 2019:

Year ended 31 August

2020 2019

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
Revenue 2,409,352 1,714,485 +40.5%
Gross Profit 1,468,615 999,893 +46.9%
Adjusted Gross Profit! 1,522,029 1,048,761 +45.1%

Adjusted Net Profit attributable to
owners of the Company? 1,040,718 792,538 +31.3%
Notes:

1. The Adjusted Gross Profit for the year ended 31 August 2020 is calculated as gross profit for the period, excluding (i)
the impact from share-based expense (in cost of revenue) and (ii) additional depreciation and amortization due to the
provisional fair value adjustments to the acquired identifiable assets of LEI Lie Ying Limited and its subsidiaries (including
HIEU Schools), Yubohui Education and its subsidiaries (including Kaifeng City Xiangfu District Bowang High School,
TEDCO and its subsidiaries (including Stamford International University) and Jinan Shuangsheng Education Consulting
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (including Shandong Yingcai University). For the calculation of the Adjusted Gross Profit
for the year ended 31 August 2019, please refer to the Company’s annual results announcement for the year ended 31
August 2019.

2. The Adjusted Net Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 August 2020 is calculated as the
net profit attributable to the owners of the Company, excluding (i) the impact from share-based compensation expense;
(i) additional depreciation and amortization due to the provisional fair value adjustments to the acquired identifiable assets
mentioned above in (1); (iii) government grants recognised during the period; and (iv) fair value losses on convertible bond
and convertible loan recognised during the period. For the calculation of the Adjusted Net Profit for the year ended 31
August 2019, please refer to the Company’s annual results announcement for the year ended 31 August 2019.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Non-IFRS Measures

To supplement the Group’s consolidated financial statements which are presented in accordance with
IFRS, the Company also uses Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Operating Profit, Adjusted Net Profit
and other adjusted figures as additional financial measures, which are not required by, or presented in
accordance with, IFRS. The Company believes that these non-IFRS measures facilitate comparisons
of operating performance from period to period and company to company by eliminating potential
impacts of items that the management do not consider to be indicative of the Group’s operating
performance. The Company believes that these measures provide useful information to shareholders
and potential investors in understanding and evaluating the Group’s consolidated results of operations
in the same manner as they help the Group’s management. However, the Company’s presentation
of such adjusted figures may not be comparable to a similarly titled measure presented by other
companies. The use of these non-IFRS measures have limitations as an analytical tool, and you should
not consider it in isolation from, or as substitute for analysis of, the Company’s results of operations or
financial condition as reported under IFRS.

Calculation of the Adjusted Gross Profit
Year ended 31 August

2020 2019
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
Gross Profit 1,468,615 999,893
Add 100% Share-based compensation expenses
(in cost of revenue) 12,406 12,406
Additional depreciation and amortisation
due to the provisional fair value adjustments
to the acquired identifiable assets
Add 100% — HIEU 10,016 16,693
Add 100% — Bowang High School 8,006 15,573
Add 100% — Shandong Yingcai University 18,698 1,695
Add 100% — Stamford International University 4,288 2,501
Adjusted Gross Profit 1,522,029 1,048,761
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Calculation of the Adjusted Net Profit attributable to owners of the Company
Year ended 31 August

2020 2019
(RMB’000) (RY/|=Xe[0[0)]
Net profit attributable to the owners of the Company 203,838 484,955
Add 100% Share-based compensation expenses
(in cost of revenue) 12,406 12,406
Add 100% Share-based compensation expenses
(in administrative expenses) 16,586 27,714

Additional depreciation and amortisation
due to the provisional fair value adjustments
to the acquired identifiable assets

Add 70% — HIEU 10,016 16,693
Add 70% — Bowang High School 8,006 15,573
Add 90% — Shandong Yingcai University

(before acquisition of minority interests) 17,140 1,695
Add 100% — Shandong Yingcai University

(after acquisition of minority interests) 1,558 =
Add 100% — Stamford International University 4,288 2,501
Add 100% Accrued but not paid interest associated

with Prior Convertible Bond - 12,209
Add 100% Change in fair value on Convertible bond

and Convertible LoanNte 790,125 250,215
Less 100% Government Grants (16,124) (21,573)
Adjusted Net Profit attributable to the owners of the Company 1,040,718 792,538

Note: Details are set out in Note 7: Other losses — net.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Results of operations

Revenue

Cost of revenue

Gross profit

Operating profit

Profit before tax

Profit for the year

Non-IFRS Measure:

Adjusted Gross Profit’

Adjusted Net Profit attributable to
owners of the Company?

2016

(RMB’000)

781,331

(375,133)
406,198
337,686
311,676
311,676

406,198

316,281

For the year ended 31 August

2017
(RMB’000)

846,222

(410,464)

435,758
308,730
313,801
313,801

461,415

408,652

2018
(RMB’000)

1,195,110
(524,387)
670,723
579,365
591,960
588,234

700,349

609,100

2019
(RMB’000)

1,714,485
(714,592)
999,893
566,855
541,523
555,065

1,048,761

792,538

2020
(RMB’000)

2,409,352
(940,737)
1,468,615
412,126
310,919
321,149

1,522,029

1,040,718

Adjusted items

One-off listing expenses

Share-based compensation
expenses (in cost of revenue)

Share-based compensation
expenses (in administration
expenses)

Additional depreciation and
amortisation due to the
fair value adjustments to
the acquired identifiable assets

— HIEU

— Bowang High School

— Shandong Yingcai University

— Stamford International University

Accrued but not paid interest
associated with Prior Convertible
Bond

Change in fair value on Convertible
Bond and Convertible Loan

Derecognition of deferred tax assets
due to the changes in applied
taxation rate of LEl Lie Ying Limited
from 1 January 2018

Government grants

Compensation for the realisation of
security interests

Waiver of the payable by
the selling shareholder

2016

(RMB’000)

10,380

(5,775)

For the year ended 31 August

2017
(RMB’000)

24,503

25,657

65,921

(21,230)

2018
(RMB’000)

16,823

45,715

12,803

9,018
(13,442)

(134,797)

(108,275)

2019
(RMB’000)

12,406

27,714

16,693
15,573
1,695
2,501

12,209

250,215

(21,573)

2020
(RMB’000)

12,406

16,586

10,016

8,006

18,698
4,288

790,125

(16,124)

8 CHINA YUHUA EDUCATION CORPORATION LIMITED



FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

Financial ratio For the year ended 31 August
2017 2018 2019
Gross profit margin 52.0% 51.5% 56.1% 58.3% 61.0%
Net profit margin attributable to
owners of the Company 39.9% 37.1% 44.4% 28.3% 8.5%

Adjusted net profit margin
attributable to owners of
the Company 40.5% 48.3% 51.0% 46.2% 43.2%

Notes:

1. The Adjusted Gross Profit for the year ended 31 August 2020 is calculated as gross profit for the period, excluding (i)
the impact from share-based expense (in cost of revenue) and (ii) additional depreciation and amortization due to the
provisional fair value adjustments to the acquired identifiable assets of LEI Lie Ying Limited and its subsidiaries (including
HIEU Schools), Yubohui Education and its subsidiaries (including Kaifeng City Xiangfu District Bowang High School,
TEDCO and its subsidiaries (including Stamford International University) and Jinan Shuangsheng Education Consulting
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (including Shandong Yingcai University). For the calculation of the Adjusted Gross Profit
for the year ended 31 August 2019, please refer to the Company’s annual results announcement for the year ended 31
August 2019.

2. The Adjusted Net Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 August 2020 is calculated as the
net profit attributable to the owners of the Company, excluding (i) the impact from share-based compensation expense;
(ii) additional depreciation and amortization due to the provisional fair value adjustments to the acquired identifiable assets
mentioned above in (1); (iii) government grants recognised during the period; and (iv) fair value losses on convertible bond
and convertible loan recognised during the period. For the calculation of the Adjusted Net Profit for the year ended 31
August 2019, please refer to the Company’s annual results announcement for the year ended 31 August 2019.

Assets and liabilities As at 31 August
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

(RMB’000)  (RMB’000)  (RMB’000)  (RMB’'000) (RMB’000)

Non-current assets 1,712,098 1,733,132 3,826,136 6,948,178 7,282,382
Current assets 316,310 1,641,388 2,305,924 2,835,120 2,436,780
Current liabilities 885,862 897,424 2,034,644 4,456,572 2,055,601
Net current assets (liabilities) (569,552) 743,964 271,280 (1,621,452) 381,179
Total assets less current liabilities 1,142,546 2,477,096 4,097,416 5,326,726 7,663,561
Non-current liabilities 232,898 — 338,233 1,183,151 3,574,149
Total equity 909,648 2,477,096 3,759,183 4,143,575 4,089,412
Property, plant and equipment 1,465,026 1,477,434 2,239,853 3,705,965 3,792,348
Cash and cash equivalents 304,986 642,506 1,693,177 2,125,719 2,175,197
Deferred revenue 609,193 631,711 956,541 — -
Contract liabilities — — — 1,301,163 924,507
Bank borrowings 315,000 — 505,000 1,093,743 1,142,419
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

Financial ratio As at/for the year ended 31 Au

2017 2018
Current ratio 0.36 1.83 1.13 0.64 1.19
Gearing ratio® 34.6% = 13.4% 26.4% 27.9%

Cash flows For the year ended 31 August
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

(RMB’000)  (RMB’000)  (RMB'000)  (RMB’'000)  (RMB’000)

Net cash from operating activities 420,143 515,806 749,782 1,249,592 1,008,650

Notes (cont’d):

3. The Gearing Ratio is calculated as total interest-bearing bank loans divided by total equity as at the end of the relevant
financial year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
With over 19 years of operating private schools in China, the Group is one of the leading private
school operators in China in terms of student enrolment.

The Group’s fundamental educational objectives are to foster modern talent with leadership and
lifelong learning capabilities and nurture great minds to contribute to the future development of the
Chinese nation (‘BB ABRESRMBEE2EFRNNARCAT RRERKNEXREHBRINE).
As an educational service provider, the Group believes it is entrusted to nurture the future of society,
and aims to provide educational services in a manner consistent with the values and attitudes of
the Group. The curriculums for the Group’s university and K-12 schools not only accommodate the
students’ eagerness to achieve academic excellence, but also emphasise well-rounded development.

In December 2019, the Company issued an aggregate principal amount of HK$2,088 million in
0.90% convertible bonds due in 2024 (the “2024 Convertible Bonds”) that were listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 40109). Of the amount raised,
RMB1,388.8 million was used to repurchase the Company’s previously existing 3.00% convertible
bonds due January 2020 (former stock code: 5532) (the “danuary 2020 Convertible Bonds”). The
repurchase was completed on 27 December 2019 and the listing of the January 2020 Convertible
Bonds was withdrawn with effect upon the close of business on 14 January 2020. Further details of
the issue of the 2024 Convertible Bonds and the repurchase of the January 2020 Convertible Bonds
are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 4 December 2019, 10 December 2019, 27
December 2019, 29 December 2019 and 6 January 2020.

As at 31 August 2020, the impact of novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) in both China and Thailand,
where the schools of the Group are located, is generally under control by local governments and the
local economies have returned to normal.

As at 23 November 2020, the Group completed the refund settlements of a portion of tuition and
boarding fees of an aggregate amount of RMB96.2 million to students related to the year ended 31
August 2020 due to the impact of COVID-19 and a corresponding amount was deducted from the
revenue for the year ended 31 August 2020 accordingly. Despite the impact of the aforementioned
refund, the Group’s revenue and gross profit for the year ended 31 August 2020 still increased by
40.5% and 46.9%, respectively. In addition, the schools of the Group have already commenced the
school year starting from September 2020 and finishing in August 2021 and students have returned to
campus on schedule. The tuition and boarding fees for the school year starting from September 2020
to August 2021 have been duly collected as at the date of this Annual Report.

Based on the assessment above, the Company is of the view that the business of the Group remained
relatively stable for the year ended 31 August 2020, notwithstanding the impact of COVID-19.
COVID-19 has not had a material adverse effect on the operation results and financial performance of
the Group for the year ended 31 August 2020. The Group will continue to pay close attention to the
development of the COVID-19 outbreak and evaluate its impact on the financial position and operating
results of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The Group intends to continue to expand its school network and ensure delivery of high-quality
education to its students by making continuous improvements to the educational infrastructure
available. As such, there has been no material changes in respect of the business of the Group since
31 August 2020.

The Group’s Schools and Student Enrolment
As at 31 August 2020, the Group had 26 schools in China and 1 school in Thailand.

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s schools by category as at the end of August
2020 and 2019:

As at As at
31 August 31 August

2020 2019

Number of the Group’s schools in the PRC

Universities 3note 1) 3note 1)
High schools 5 5
Middle schools 7 7
Primary schools 6 6
Kindergartens 5 7
The Group’s schools overseas

University q(note 2) 1 (note 2)
Total 27 29

Notes:

1. As of the date of this Annual Report, the Group, through LEI Lie Ying Limited, owns 100% of the equity interests in
Hunan Lie Ying Industry Co., Ltd. (#F%E & % F R 722 7]) which in turn owns the entire sponsorship interests in Hunan
International Economics University (#7834 4MEE ), Hunan Lie Ying Mechanic School (i# & J§ /& £ T £4%) and Hunan
International Economics University Vocational Skills Training Centre (381 m 35 9ME 75 E3 BT Bk 2 5 E 12 7P ) (together the
“HIEU Schools”), and the entire equity interests in Hunan Lie Ying Property Management Co., Ltd. (HiF/EE Y £ &I
HPBRAR]). Details of the Group’s acquisition of the remaining 30% equity interests in Hunan Lie Ying Industry Co., Ltd.
(PEEEEEAMR AR on 25 September 2020 were disclosed in the Company’s announcements published on 28
September 2020 and 30 September 2020.

As of the date of this Annual Report, the Group also owns 100% equity interests in the Jinan Shuangsheng Education
Consulting Co., Ltd., which holds the entire sponsorship interest in Shandong Yingcai University. The Group acquired the
remaining 10% equity interests in Jinan Shuangsheng Education Consulting Co., Ltd. on 4 August 2020, as disclosed in
Note 30 in notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2020.

2. This represents Stamford International University that the Group operates in Thailand.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

For the school year 2020/2021, the Group has enrolled a total of 143,412 students at its schools and
universities. The following table sets out the Group’s student enroliment by category for the school
year ended 2019/2020 and 2020/2021:

2020/2021 2019/2020

(as at (as at

23 November 15 November

2020) 2020)

K-9 schools 18,687 19,361
Universities and high schools 124,725 118,873
Total 143,412 138,234

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent events
Acquisition of the remaining 30% non-controlling interests of Hunan Lie Ying Industry Co., Ltd.

(“Hunan Lie Ying”)

On 25 September 2020, the Group acquired the 7.2% and 22.8% non-controlling interests in Hunan
Lie Ying from their respective non-controlling shareholders, for a consideration of approximately
RMB143,200,000 and RMB578,000,000, respectively. Hunan Lie Ying is the holding company of
the HIEU Schools of the Group. Upon completion of the two transactions, Hunan Lie Ying became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Further details of the acquisition of the remaining interests are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 28 September 2020 and 30 September 2020.

Future Development

The Group’s future development focuses on potential acquisitions and their subsequent consolidation
with the Group. The Group will continue to seek acquisitions in higher education sector with high
growth potential and will focus on post-acquisition consolidation to maximize shareholder value.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Overview

For the year ended 31 August 2020, the Group recorded revenue of RMB2,409.4 million, an Adjusted
Gross Profit of RMB1,522.0 million and a gross profit of RMB1,468.6 million. The Adjusted Gross
Profit Margin® of the Group was 63.2% for the year ended 31 August 2020 as compared with 61.2%
for the corresponding period in 2019. The gross profit margin was 61.0% for the year ended 31
August 2020 as compared with 58.3% for the corresponding period in 2019.

The Adjusted Net Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 August 2020
was RMB1,040.7 million, representing an increase of RMB248.2 million or a 31.3% increase from the
corresponding period in 2019. The Adjusted Net Profit Margin? attributable to owners of the Company
was 43.2% and 46.2% for the years ended 31 August 2020 and 31 August 2019, respectively.

The net profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to RMB203.8 million and RMB485.0
million for the years ended 31 August 2020 and 31 August 2019, respectively. The net profit margin
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to 8.5% and 28.3% for the years ended 31 August
2020 and 31 August 2019, respectively.

Revenue

For the year ended 31 August 2020, revenue of the Group amounted to RMB2,409.4 million,
representing an increase of RMB694.9 million or 40.5% as compared with RMB1,714.5 million for the
corresponding period of 2019. Due to the impact of COVID-19, the Group was required to refund a
portion of tuition and boarding fees of an aggregate amount of RMB96.2 million to students related to
the year ended 31 August 2020. The corresponding amount has been deducted from the revenue of
the Group for the year accordingly. The refund settlements have been completed as at 23 November
2020. The increase in revenue was primarily the result of () an increase in student enrolment and
tuition fees for several schools; (i) the acquisition of Jinan Shuangsheng Education Consulting Co., Ltd.
and its subsidiaries (including Shandong Yingcai University), the financial results of which have been
consolidated into the Group’s upon completion of the acquisition in August 2019; and (iii) the acquisition
of TEDCO and its subsidiaries (including Stamford International University), the financial results of which
have been consolidated into the Group’s upon completion of the acquisition in February 2019.

Cost of Revenue

For the year ended 31 August 2020, the Adjusted Cost of Revenue® of the Group amounted to
RMB887.3 million, representing an increase of RMB221.6 million or 33.3% as compared with
RMB665.7 million for the corresponding period of 2019. The cost of revenue of the Group amounted
to RMB940.7 million and RMB714.6 million for the years ended 31 August 2020 and 31 August 2019,
respectively.

! The Adjusted Gross Profit Margin is calculated based on the Adjusted Gross Profit.

2 The Adjusted Net Profit Margin attributable to owners of the Company is calculated based on the Adjusted Net Profit
attributable to owners of the Company.

8 The Adjusted Cost of Revenue is calculated as cost of revenue for the period, excluding the impact from the non-cash
expenses of share-based compensations and additional depreciation and amortization due to the provisional fair value
adjustments to the acquired identifiable assets of (i) LEI Lie Ying Limited; (ii) Yubohui Education and its subsidiaries; (i)
TEDCO and its subsidiaries; and (iv) Jinan Shuangsheng Education Consulting Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (including
Shandong Yingcai University).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended 31 August 2020, the Adjusted Gross Profit of the Group amounted to RMB1,522.0
million, representing an increase of RMB473.3 million or 45.1% as compared with RMB1,048.8 million
for the corresponding period in 2019. The Adjusted Gross Profit Margin of the Group for the year
ended 31 August 2020 was 63.2%, compared with 61.2% for the corresponding period in 2019.

The Group’s gross profit amounted to RMB1,468.6 million and RMB999.9 million for the years ended
31 August 2020 and 31 August 2019, respectively. The Group’s gross profit margin amounted to
61.0% and 58.3% for the years ended 31 August 2020 and 31 August 2019, respectively. The
improvement in the gross profit margin was mainly due to (i) implementation of cost control measures;
and (i) the proportion of university business has increased.

Selling Expenses

For the year ended 31 August 2020, selling expenses of the Group amounted to RMB47.1 million,
representing an increase of RMB24.8 million from RMB22.4 million during the corresponding period in
2019. The increase was primarily the result of an increase in marketing activities expenses for student
recruitment.

Administrative Expenses

For the year ended 31 August 2020, the Adjusted Administrative Expenses* of the Group amounted
to RMB222.6 million, representing an increase of RMB50.4 million as compared with RMB172.2
million for the corresponding period in 2019. The administrative expenses of the Group amounted to
RMB239.2 million and RMB200.0 million for the years ended 31 August 2020 and 31 August 2019,
respectively. The increase is in line with the expansion of the business scale of the Group.

Other Income
For the year ended 31 August 2020, the other income of the Group amounted to RMB29.1 million,
representing an increase of RMB6.0 million as compared with RMB23.1 million for the corresponding
period in 2019. This increase was primarily due to an increase in refund of service fee from
government.

Other Gains and Losses

For the year ended 31 August 2020, the other gains and losses of the Group amounted to a loss of
RMB792.0 million as compared with a loss of RMB233.2 million for the corresponding period in 2019.
The loss was primarily due to fair value losses on convertible bond.

Operating Profit

The Adjusted Operating Profit of the Group amounted to RMB1,256.1 million for the years ended 31
August 2020, representing an increase of RMB384.0 million or 44.0% as compared with RMB872.1
million for the corresponding period in 2019. The Adjusted Operating Profit Margin amounted to
52.1% and 50.9% for the years ended 31 August 2020 and 31 August 2019, respectively.

4 Adjusted Administrative Expenses are calculated as administrative expense for the period, excluding the impact from
share-based compensation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Finance Income

Finance income decreased from RMB52.7 million for the year ended 31 August 2019 to RMB28.7
million for the corresponding period in 2020 due to (i) a decrease in cash and cash equivalents and
term deposits with initial term of over three months; and (ii) a decrease in foreign exchange gains.

Finance Expenses

Finance expenses increased from RMB78.1 million for the year ended 31 August 2019 to RMB129.9
million for the corresponding period in 2020 due to (i) an increase in foreign exchange losses; and (ii)
an increase in interest expenses.

Profit for the Reporting Period

As a result of the above factors, the Adjusted Net Profit attributable to owners of the Company was
RMB1,040.7 million for the year ended 31 August 2020, representing an increase of RMB248.2 million
or 31.3% as compared with RMB792.5 million for the corresponding period in 2019. In addition, the
Adjusted Net Profit Margin attributable to owners of the Company amounted to 43.2% and 46.2% for
the years ended 31 August 2020 and 31 August 2019, respectively.

The increase in the Adjusted Net Profit was mainly due to () an increase in student enrolment
and tuition fees for several schools; and (ii) the financial results of Jinan Shuangsheng Education
Consulting Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (including Shandong Yingcai University) having been
consolidated into the Group upon completion of the acquisition in August 2019.

The Group recorded a net profit attributable to owners of the Company of RMB203.8 million for the
year ended 31 August 2020, representing a decrease of RMB281.1 million or 58.0% as compared
with RMB485.0 million for the corresponding period in 2019. The net profit margin attributable to
owners of the Company for the year ended 31 August 2020 was 8.5%, compared to 28.3% for the
corresponding period in 2019.

Liquidity and Source of Funding and Borrowing

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents increased from RMB2,125.7 million as at 31 August 2019
to RMB2,175.2 million as at 31 August 2020. Including restricted cash and term deposits with initial
term of over three months, the Group’s total bank balances and cash decreased from RMB2,750.6
million as at 31 August 2019 to RMB2,329.6 million as at 31 August 2020. The decrease primarily
resulted from payments associated with the repurchase of the January 2020 Convertible Bonds and
repayment of borrowings.

As at 31 August 2020, the current assets of the Group amounted to RMB2,436.8 million, including
RMB2,329.6 million in bank balances and RMB107.2 million in other current assets. The current
liabilities of the Group amounted to RMB2,055.6 million, of which RMB616.2 million was accruals and
other payables, RMB924.5 million was contract liabilities, and RMB509.1 million was borrowings. As
at 31 August 2020, the current ratio of the Group, which is equivalent to the current assets divided by
the current liabilities, was 1.19 (31 August 2019: 0.64).
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Gearing Ratio
As at 31 August 2020, the gearing ratio of the Group, which was calculated as total interest-bearing
bank loans divided by total equity, was approximately 27.9% (31 August 2019: 26.4%).

Material Investments
The Group did not make any material investments during the year ended 31 August 2020.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals
The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, consolidated affiliated
entities or associated companies during the year ended 31 August 2020.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 August 2020, the bank borrowings of the Group amounting to RMB1,142.4 million were
guaranteed and pledged by certain prepaid land lease payments, buildings, right over the tuition fee
and accommodation fee and equity interests of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group had no contingent liabilities as at 31 August 2020.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the year ended 31 August 2020, the Group mainly operated in China and majority of the
transactions were settled in Renminbi, the Company’s primary consolidated affiliated entities’
functional currency. As at 31 August 2020, except for the bank deposits, the Group did not have
significant foreign currency exposure from its operations.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets
Save as otherwise disclosed in this Annual Report, the Company has no other plans for material
investments or purchase of capital assets.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS

The Board of the Company is pleased to present this report of Directors together with the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 August 2020.

DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 August 2020 and up to the date of this Annual
Report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Li Guangyu (Chairman)
Ms. Li Hua (Vice Chairman)
Ms. Qiu Hongjun

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chen Lei

Mr. Xia Zuoguan

Mr. Zhang Zhixue

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 53 to 57 of this Annual Report.

GLOBAL OFFERING
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 25 April 2016 as an exempted limited
liability company under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The Company’s Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
28 February 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is one of the largest providers of private education from kindergarten to university in China
under the “YuHua” brand. The Group’s university education and K-12 education are designed to
serve different target groups and achieve distinct learning outcomes. The Group’s university offers
comprehensive tertiary level education aimed at equipping its students with the practical knowledge
and skills to prosper in their careers. The Group’s K-12 schools provide education from kindergarten
to high school, allowing us to attract students at an early age and create a stable and sustainable
student pipeline. The Group emphasises the well-rounded development of its students and has
structured its curriculum to ensure the high quality of its education and inspire and encourage its
students to explore their individual interests.

Analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the year ended 31 August 2020 is set out in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including an analysis of the Group’s financial performance
and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business, is set out in the section
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headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this report. These discussions form part of this
report. Events affecting the Company that have occurred since the end of the financial year is set out
in the section headed “Events after the Reporting Period” in this report. An account of the Company’s
key relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers and others that have a significant
impact on the Company is set out in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” to be
published within 3 months from the publication of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements” under
“Continuing Connected Transactions” in this Annual Report, the following list is a summary of certain
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, some of which are beyond its control.

° its operations and business prospects;

° its business and operating strategies and its ability to implement such strategies;

o its ability to develop and manage its operation and business;

° its ability to maintain or increase student enrolment in its schools;

° its ability to maintain or increase tuition fees;

° its ability to control its operating costs;

° its ability to maintain or increase utilization of the Group’s facilities;

° its capital expenditure programs and future capital requirements;

e jts future general and administrative expenses;

° competition for, among other things, capital, technology and skilled personnel (including teaching
staff);

° competition in the education industry where the Group serves; and

° changes to regulatory and operating conditions in the education industry and geographical
markets in which the Group serves.

However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised to make their own judgment or
consult their own investment advisors before making any investment in the Shares.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting employee benefits and
development, protecting the environment and giving back to community and achieving sustainable
growth.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied in all material aspects with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the year ended 31 August 2020, there was no material breach of, or non-compliance,
with applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s customers primarily consist of its students and their parents. The Group did not have any
single customer who accounted for more than 5% of the Group’s revenue for the two years ended 31
August 2019 and 2020.

The Group’s suppliers primarily comprise decoration services, meal catering companies, suppliers for
text books. For the year ended 31 August 2020, purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
amounted to RMB162.3 million (2019: RMB154.8 million) which represented 46.7% (2019: 52.9%) of
the Group’s total purchases. During the year, purchases from the Group’s largest supplier amounted
to RMB86.1 million (2019: RMB104.6 million), which represented 24.8% (2019: 35.7%) of the Group’s
total purchases in the same year. The Group’s largest supplier during the year ended 31 August 2020
is an independent third party construction service provider who provides construction services to
certain of its schools.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates, or any shareholder of the Company who, to
the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued capital, has any interest
in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers.

During the year ended 31 August 2020, the Group did not experience any significant disputes with its
customers or suppliers.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited consolidated results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on
pages 8 to 10 of this Annual Report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or the laws of the
Cayman lIslands which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the
existing Shareholders.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the
year ended 31 August 2020 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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The book value of the properties held by the Group for owner occupation at 31 August 2020 as
included in the financial statements in this Annual Report was RMB3,792.3 million.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for the year ended 31 August 2020 and
details of the Shares issued during the year ended 31 August 2020 are set out in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DONATION
During the year ended 31 August 2020, the Group made donations of RMB1.0 million (2019:
approximately RMBO.1 million) and received donations of RMB1.6 million (2019: nil).

DEBENTURE ISSUED

Save for the 2024 Convertible Bonds, the Group did not issue any debenture during the year ended
31 August 2020.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Share Award Scheme and the Loan Agreement, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 August
2020.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has recommended that a final dividend of HK$0.092 (equivalent to approximately
RMBO0.082) per Share in respect of the year ended 31 August 2020, which is subject to Shareholder’s
approval at the forthcoming general meeting of the Company. The final dividend is expected to be
paid on 22 February 2021 to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company at the close of business on 9 February 2021.

No Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable laws and regulations, every
Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may
incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty in their offices.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force for the year ended 31 August 2020. The
Company has taken out liability insurance to provide appropriate coverage for the Directors.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
The distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 August 2020 were RMB1,109.5 million.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION
The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of
their holding of the Company’s securities.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 August 2020 are set out in
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this Annual Report and note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Li has entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term of three years with effect
from the Listing Date or until the third annual general meeting of the Company since the Listing Date
(whichever is sooner), and shall be automatically renewed for successive periods of three (3) years
until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the service or by either party giving to
the other not less than three (3) month’s prior notice in writing.

Each of the other executive Directors (i.e. Ms. Li and Ms. Qiu Hongjun) has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years with effect from the date of their
respective appointment or until the third annual general meeting of the Company since the date of the
Prospectus (whichever is sooner), and shall be automatically renewed for successive periods of three
(3) years until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the service or by either party
giving to the other not less than three (3) month’s prior notice in writing.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial term of three years with effect from the date of the Prospectus or until the third
annual general meeting of the Company since the Listing Date (whichever is sooner). Such letters of
appointment were renewed on similar terms and effective from 16 February 2020 for another term
of three years, and will continue thereafter until terminated by either party giving to the other not less
than three (3) month’s prior notice in writing.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the annual general meeting has a service contract
with members of the Group that is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Save as disclosed in the section “Continuing Connected Transactions” below, none of the Directors
nor any entity connected with the Directors had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting during or at the end of the year
ended 31 August 2020.
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CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

No contract of significance, including contracts of significance for the provision of services, has been
entered into among the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders or any of
their subsidiaries during the year ended 31 August 2020.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract, concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company was entered into or existed during the year ended 31 August 2020.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 August 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of
the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Model Code are as follows:

Interest in the Company

Approximate
Percentage of Long Position/

Shareholding in  Short Position/

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest Number of Shares the Company" Lending Pool
Mr. Li Beneficial owner/ 1,937,249,000@%6) 58.01% Long position
Founder of a discretionary trust/
Other
Ms. Li Beneficiary of a discretionary trust/ 1,942,152,000@*2aE) 58.15% Long position

Beneficial owner/
Interest of spouse/Other

Qiu Hongjun Beneficial owner 3,261,000© 0.10% Long position

Notes:
1. The calculation is based on the total number of 3,339,640,183 Shares in issue as at 31 August 2020.

2. The entire share capital of GuangYu Investment Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Baikal Lake Investment, as the
nominee of TMF (Cayman) Ltd., the trustee of Nan Hai Trust, which was established by Mr. Li Guangyu (as the settlor)
on 6 September 2016 as a discretionary trust for the benefit of among others, Mr. Li and Ms. Li. Each of Mr. Li (as the
founder of Nan Hai Trust) and Ms. Li (as a beneficiary of Nan Hai Trust) is taken to be interested in 1,917,500,000 Shares
held by GuangYu Investment.
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Notes (cont’d):

3. Includes Mr. Li’s entitlement to receive up to 7,899,600 Shares pursuant to the exercise of options granted to him under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, subject to the conditions (including vesting conditions) of those options.

4. Includes Ms. Li’s entitlement to receive up to 9,730,400 Shares pursuant to the exercise of options granted to her under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, subject to the conditions (including vesting conditions) of those options.

5. Ms. Li’s spouse, Ge Cong, is interested in 326,000 Shares and therefore, Ms. Li is deemed to be interested in a further
326,000 Shares held by Ge Cong.

6. Includes Qiu Hongjun’s entitlement to receive up to 2,934,900 Shares pursuant to the exercise of options granted to her
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, subject to the conditions (including vesting conditions) of those options.

Interest in Associated Corporations

Amount of % of

Long Position/

Capacity/

Name of

Name of associated

Nature of

registered

interest in the

Short Position/

Director

corporation

Interest

capital

corporation

Lending Pool

Mr. Li YuHua Investment Management  Beneficial owner RMB40,000,000 80% Long position
Zhengzhou YuHua Education Beneficial owner RMB18,000,000 36% Long position
Investments
Zhengzhou Zhongmei Education  Beneficial owner RMB30,000,000 60% Long position
Investments
Zhengzhou Qinfeng Education Beneficial owner RMB400,000 40% Long position
Technology Co., Ltd.
Zhengzhou Hanchen Education  Beneficial owner RMB400,000 40% Long position
Technology Co., Ltd.
Ms. Li YuHua Investment Management  Beneficial owner RMB10,000,000 20% Long position
Zhengzhou YuHua Education Beneficial owner RMB32,000,000 64% Long position
Investments
Zhengzhou Zhongmei Education  Beneficial owner RMB20,000,000 40% Long position
Investments
Zhengzhou Qinfeng Education Beneficial owner RMB600,000 60% Long position
Technology Co., Ltd.
Zhengzhou Hanchen Education  Beneficial owner RMB600,000 60% Long position

Technology Co., Ltd.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 August 2020, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company had or was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in
the register to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at 31 August 2020, within the knowledge of the Directors, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or a short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company which would be required to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate
Percentage of

Shareholding Long Position/
Number of in the Short Position/
Name of Shareholder = Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares Company! Lending Pool

Mr. Li® Beneficial owner/ 1,937,249,000¢ 58.01% Long position
Founder of a discretionary trust/Other

Ms. Li® Beneficiary of a discretionary trust/  1,942,152,00019%6) 58.15% Long position
Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse/
Other
Baikal Lake Investment® Interest in controlled corporation/ 1,917,500,000 57.42% Long position
Other
GuangYu Investment® Beneficial owner/Other 1,917,500,000 57.42% Long position
TMF (Cayman) Ltd.® Trustee/Other 1,917,500,000 57.42% Long position
Bank of America Interest in controlled corporation 449,678,688 13.46% Long position
Corporation
447,150,043 13.39% Short position
Notes:

1. The calculation is based on the total number of 3,339,640,183 Shares in issue as at 31 August 2020.

2. The entire share capital of GuangYu Investment Holdings Limited is held by Baikal Lake Investment, as the nominee of
TMF (Cayman) Ltd., the trustee of Nan Hai Trust. Nan Hai Trust was established by Mr. Li (as the settlor) on 6 September
2016 as a discretionary trust for the benefit of, among others, Mr. Li and Ms. Li.

3. TMF (Cayman) Ltd. is the trustee of Nan Hai Trust.

4. Includes Mr. Li’s entitlement to receive up to 7,899,600 Shares pursuant to the exercise of options granted to him under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, subject to the conditions (including vesting conditions) of those options.

5. Includes Ms. Li’s entitlement to receive up to 9,730,400 Shares pursuant to the exercise of options granted to her under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, subject to the conditions (including vesting conditions) of those options.

6. Ms. Li's spouse, Ge Cong, is interested in 326,000 Shares and therefore Ms. Li is deemed to be interested in the
326,000 Shares held by Ge Cong.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 25



REPORT OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other person (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as at 31 August 2020 as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 August 2020, the Group had 6,938 employees (31 August 2019: 8,094). The number
of employees employed by the Group varies from time to time depending on need. Employees’
remuneration is determined in accordance with prevailing industry practice and employees’
educational backgrounds, experiences and performance.

The Group believes in the importance of attracting, recruiting and retaining of quality employees
(in particular teachers) in achieving the Group’s success. The Group provides training for teachers
to equip them with teaching skills and techniques and stay abreast of the changes in student
demands and teaching methodologies, changing testing and admission standards and other trends.
During each school year, the Group monitors the teaching quality of its teachers and evaluates the
performance of its teachers from time to time. During the year ended 31 August 2020, the Group did
not experience any significant labour disputes or any difficulty in recruiting employees.

The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are periodically reviewed. As required
by the PRC laws and regulations, the Company participates in various employee social security
plans for its employees that are administered by local governments, including among others, housing
provident funds, pensions, medical insurance, social insurance and unemployment insurance.

Compensation of key executives of the Group is reviewed by the Company’s remuneration committee
which is based on the Group’s performance and the executives’ respective contributions to the

Group.

The Company also has adopted a Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and a Share Award Scheme to
provide incentives for the Group’s employees.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Group for the year ended 31 August 2020 was RMB614.9
million (for the year ended 31 August 2019: RMB475.8 million).
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to incentivise the Directors, senior management and other employees for their contribution to
the Group and to attract and retain suitable personnel to the Group, the Company adopted the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme effective from 1 September 2016. The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is
not subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to provide the Selected Participants with
the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage the Selected
Participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its Shares for the benefit of
the Company and its Shareholders as a whole. The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme will provide the
Company with a flexible means of retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating
and/or providing benefits to Selected Participants.

As at 31 August 2020, share options for 36,455,800 Shares were granted to the Directors and senior
management under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

A summary of the principal terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is set out below:

Maximum Number of Shares Available for Issue under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The overall limit on the number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme at any time shall not
exceed 180,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 5.39% of the total number of issued Shares
of the Company as at the date of this Annual Report.

Exercise Period

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme at any
time during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee, which period may
commence on a day after the date upon which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end
in any event not later than 20 years from the date of grant of the option subject to the provisions for
early termination under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

Payment on Acceptance of Share Option
An amount of RMB1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the grant of an option.

Determination of Exercise Price
The exercise price in relation to each option granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is

HK$0.00001 per Share or such other price as may be determined by the Board.

Life of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme remained in force until 7 February 2017.
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Outstanding Share Options

The table below shows details of the outstanding share options granted to all grantees under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as of 31 August 2020. No options were granted since 28 February
2017 and up to the date of this Annual Report. For further details on the movement of the options
during the Reporting Period please see note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

Outstanding Outstanding
balance as at Granted Exercised Cancelled/ as at Exercise
1 September during during Lapsed during 31 August price
Grantee Position Held 2019 the year the year the year 2020 Option Period per Share
Directors and associates
Mr. Li Executive Director; 13,824,300 — 5,924,700 — 7,899,600 5 years HK$0.0001
chairman of the Board from the
date of grant
Ms. Li Executive Director; 17,028,200 - 7,297,800 - 9,730,400 5 years HK$0.0001
vice chairman of the Board; from the
chief executive officer date of grant
Qiu Hongjun Executive Director; financial 2,934,900 = = - 2,934,900 15 years HK$0.0001
(B4 E) controller; vice president from the
date of grant
Ge Cong (E%)  Director of the Universities 293,400 - - - 293,400 20 years HK$0.0001
and spouse of Ms. Li from the
date of grant
Subtotal: 34,080,800 = 13,222,500 = 20,858,300 HK$0.0001
Other Employees
325 114,310,990 — 2,800,000 - 111,510,990 Upto 20 years HK$0.0001
from the date
of grant
Employees
Subtotal: 114,310,990 = 2,800,000 - 111,510,990
TOTAL 148,391,790 = 16,022,500 - 132,369,290

During the year ended 31 August 2020, none of the options granted referred to above had been
forfeited or cancelled or had lapsed.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Award Scheme by the resolutions in writing of the then sole
shareholder of the Company on 8 February 2017. The Share Award Scheme is not a share option
scheme and is not subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to align the interests of Eligible Persons with those of
the Group through ownership of Shares, dividend and other distributions paid on Shares and/or the
increase in value of the Shares, and to encourage and retain Eligible Persons to make contributions to
the long term growth and profits of the Group.

Number of Shares Available under the Share Award Scheme

The aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants made pursuant to the Share Award Scheme
(excluding share which have been forfeited in accordance with the Share Award Scheme) will not
exceed 9% of the aggregate nominal amount of the issued share capital of the Company (excluding
any Shares which may be issued pursuant to the exercise of the options granted under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme and grants under the Share Award Scheme) without further Shareholders’
approval (the “Share Award Scheme Limit”).

Under the current Share Award Scheme Limit, share awards representing 270,000,000 Shares may
be granted by the Company within 30 years of the Listing Date, representing approximately 8.08% of
the total number of issued shares of the Company as at the date of this Annual Report.

Maximum Entitlement of Participant

Save as otherwise restricted by the Share Award Scheme Limit or the Listing Rules, there shall be no
limit on the total number of non-vested Shares that may be granted to a Selected Participant under
the Share Award Scheme.

Duration and Termination

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 30 years (after which no further
Awards will be granted), and thereafter for so long as there are any non-vested Awards Shares
granted hereunder prior to the expiration of the Share Award Scheme, in order to give effect to the
vesting of such Award Shares or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the provisions of
the Share Award Scheme Rules, unless early termination as determined by the Board provided that
such termination shall not affect any subsisting rights of any Selected Participant.

Restrictions

No Award shall be made to Selected Participants with respect to a grant of an Award under the
Share Award Scheme: (i) where any director of the Company is in possession of unpublished inside
information in relation to the Company or where dealings by directors of the Company are prohibited
under any code or requirement of the Listing Rules or any applicable laws, rules or regulations; (ii)
during the period of 60 days immediately preceding the publication date of the annual results or, if
shorter, the period from the end of the relevant financial year up to the publication date of the results;
and (jii) during the period of 30 days immediately preceding the publication date of the half-year results
or, if shorter, the period from the end of the relevant half-year period up to the publication date of the
results.

Vesting and Lapse

The Board or its delegate(s) may from time to time while the Share Award Scheme is in force and
subject to all applicable laws, determine such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for the Award
to be vested.
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If there is an event of change in control of the Company by way of a merger, a privatization of the
Company by way of a scheme or by way of an offer, the Board or the committee of the Board or
person(s) to which the Board has delegated its authority shall at their sole discretion determine
whether the vesting dates of any Awards will be accelerated to an earlier date.

In the event a Selected Participant ceases to be an eligible person on or prior to the relevant vesting
date and the Award in respect of the relevant vesting date shall lapse or be forfeited pursuant to
the Share Award Scheme, such Award shall not vest on the relevant vesting date and the Selected
Participant shall have no claims against the Company, unless the Board determines otherwise at its
absolute discretion.

Share Award Grants
As at the date of this Annual Report, no Shares have been granted or agreed to be granted under the
Share Award Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during the Reporting Period was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any
right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or had
exercised any such right.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION

In compliance with the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules, the Company has established the remuneration committee of the Company to formulate
remuneration policies. The remuneration is determined and recommended based on each Director’s
and senior management personnel’s qualification, position and seniority. As for the independent non-
executive Directors, their remuneration is determined by the Board upon recommendation from the
remuneration committee. The Directors and the senior management personnel are eligible participants
of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the senior management personnel are eligible participants
of the Share Award Scheme. Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in note 34 and note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and there were no emoluments
paid by the Group to any of the Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save and except for the interests of the Controlling Shareholders in the Group, during the year ended
31 August 2020, neither the Controlling Shareholders nor any of the Directors had any interest in a
business, apart from the business of the Group, which competes or is likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, with the Group’s business, which would require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the following transactions of the Group constituted continuing
connected transactions (the “Continuing Connected Transactions”) for the Group for the year
ended 31 August 2020.

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions

Set out below is a summary of the continuing connected transactions for the Group, which are subject
to the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Contractual Arrangements

The Group currently conducts its private education business through its consolidated affiliated entities
in the PRC as PRC laws and regulations, or the implementation of those laws and regulations by the
relevant government authorities, generally prohibit or restrict foreign ownership in the private education
industry in the PRC. PRC laws and regulations currently prohibit foreign ownership of primary and
middle schools in the PRC and restrict the operation of kindergartens, high schools and higher
education institutions to Sino-foreign ownership, in addition to imposing a qualification requirement on
the foreign owners. Further, government approvals in respect of Sino-foreign ownership in the private
education sector have, with very limited exception, been withheld. The Group does not hold any direct
equity interest in its consolidated affiliated entities. The Contractual Arrangements, through which the
Group is able to exercise control over and derive the economic benefits from its consolidated affiliated
entities, have been narrowly tailored to achieve its business purpose and minimise the potential
conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations.

Foreign investment activities in the PRC are subject to the restrictions as set out in the Administrative
Measures of Foreign Investment Admission (Negative List) (2020 Version) ({57 1% &/ A% 5
I (BMESE) (2020 R))) (the “Negative List”), which is promulgated and amended
from time to time jointly by the National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC
and Ministry of Commerce of the PRC. The latest version of the Negative List was released on
23 June 2020 and became effective on 23 July 2020. Foreign investments in industries falling within
the Negative List are subjected to special administrative measures as set forth therein.

According to the Negative List, operation of kindergartens, high schools and higher education
institutions (the “Relevant Business”) shall be restricted to Sino-foreign cooperation, which means
that foreign investors may only operate kindergartens, high schools and higher education institutions
through joint ventures with PRC incorporated entities that are in compliance with the Regulation on
Sino-Foreign Cooperation in Operating Schools of the People’s Republic of China ( {# # AR H£F1EH
FRANE TEHTEENH) ), promulgated by the State Council in 2003 and last amended on 2 March 2019
(the “Sino-Foreign Cooperation Regulation”). The Negative List also provides that the domestic
party shall play a dominant role in the Sino-foreign cooperation, meaning that (a) the principal or
other chief executive officer of the schools or education institutions shall be a PRC national; and (b)
the representative of the domestic party shall account for not less than half of the total members of
the board of directors, the executive council or the joint administration committee of the Sino-foreign
cooperative educational institution.
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Pursuant to the Implementation Opinions on Encouraging and Guiding Private Fund’s Entry into the
Education Sector and Promoting Healthy Development of Private Education ( B & EN A 3| EREE
SHEAHEEHRERPNABSRREEMNERER) ) promulgated by the Ministry of Education of the
PRC on 18 June 2012 (the “Implementation Opinions”), foreign-invested companies that engage in
educational activities in the PRC should comply with the Negative List.

Pursuant to the Sino-Foreign Cooperation Regulation, the foreign investor in a Sino-foreign joint
venture school for PRC students at a kindergarten, high school and higher education institution (a
“Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School”) must be a foreign education institution with relevant
qualification and high quality of education (the “Qualification Requirement”).

Furthermore, pursuant to the Implementation Opinions, the foreign portion of the total investment
in a Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School should be below 50% (the “Foreign Ownership
Restriction”) and the establishment of these schools is subject to approval of education authorities at
the provincial or national level.

The Company’s PRC Legal Adviser has also advised that it is currently uncertain as to what specific
criteria must be met by a foreign investor (such as length of experience and form and extent of
ownership in the foreign jurisdiction) in order to demonstrate to the relevant education authority that it
meets the Qualification Requirement.

As a result of the above, the primary and middle schools operated by us in the PRC are held by
Zhengzhou YuHua Education Investments, which is directly or indirectly wholly-owned by the
Registered Shareholders, and controlled by us pursuant to the 2016 Contractual Arrangements.

The Company’s PRC Legal Adviser has opined that all possible actions or steps necessary for it to
confirm that the 2016 Contractual Arrangements with respect to the operation of primary and middle
school businesses are valid, legal and binding and do not contravene PRC laws and regulations have
been taken.

Further details of the regulatory framework are set out in the section headed “Contractual
Arrangements” in the Prospectus.

The Group has adopted a specific plan and begun to take concrete steps which the Company
reasonably believe are meaningful endeavours to demonstrate compliance with the Qualification
Requirement:

1. On 1 October 2013, the Group signed a letter of intent with Dagjeon Girls’ Middle School (X H
ZFARER) of the Republic of Korea (‘DGMS”) pursuant to which DGMS expressed its intent to,
among other things, cooperate with the Group’s schools and collaborate in organizing exchange
and teaching activities.

2. On 1 October 2013, the Group signed a letter of intent with Daejeon Middle School pursuant to

which Daejeon Middle School expressed an intent to cooperate with the Group’s schools and
collaborate in organising exchange and teaching activities.
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3. On 1 October 2013, the Group signed a letter of intent for cooperating in running schools with
DGMS pursuant which:

(@) DGMS agreed to send Korean speaking teachers to teach Sino-Korean international classes
and Korean language courses at the Group’s high school classes and the Group agreed to
bear the related costs;

(b) the Group agreed to send its teachers to teach Chinese culture classes and Chinese
language courses at DGMS’s middle school classes and DGMS agreed to bear the related
costs;

(c) the Group’s middle school students may undertake DGMS’s courses and receive
certificates upon completion of the course; and

(d) the Group will establish an overseas training base for certain graduates of the Zhengzhou
Technology and Business University at DGMS.

4. On 21 October 2013, Zhengzhou YuHua Elite School signed a cooperation agreement with
International Exchange Department of Jeju National University (BI3ZE /M AXE%) of Republic of
Korea pursuant to which Jeju National University agreed to, among other things, cooperate with
Zhengzhou YuHua Elite School in respect of Korea language education and cultural exchange
programmes and assist in the admission of graduates of Zhengzhou YuHua Elite School to Jeju
National University.

5. On 12 January 2015, Zhengzhou YuHua Elite School signed an agreement with International
Exchange Department of Pukyong National University (B3 2 A £28) of the Republic of Korea
pursuant to which Pukyong National University agreed to provide students of Zhengzhou YuHua
Elite School with language training opportunities and assist in the admission of graduates of
Zhengzhou YuHua Elite School to Pukyong National University.

6. On 12 February 2019, China YuHua Education Investment Limited signed an acquisition
agreement with LEI Singapore Holdings Pte. Ltd., a subsidiary of Laureate Education, the largest
global network of degree-granting higher education institutions, pursuant to which China YuHua
Education Investment acquired the issued and outstanding share capital of Thai Education
Holdings Co., Ltd. and Fareast Stamford International Co., Ltd. The acquisition will enable the
Company to leverage the leading position of Stamford International University in the private
tertiary education market in Thailand, thereby offering a greater potential for profit and long-term
business sustainability for the Group.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge and belief, other than the letter of intent for cooperation in

running schools signed with DGMS on 1 October 2013 mentioned above, the abovementioned letters
of intent and agreements are legally binding.
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To further demonstrate compliance with the Qualification Requirement, the Group is also in the
process of communicating or negotiating with certain experienced and reputational overseas
education service providers in various forms of potential cooperation, including but not limited to
expanding its school network abroad. The Company will keep the Shareholders informed should it
make any substantial progress in reaching cooperation agreements with these overseas education
service providers.

On top of the above, and to prepare for the potential expansion of the Group’s business to the
overseas, the Company has established a Hong Kong subsidiary, HongKong YuHua, which serves as
the main control hub of the Group’s overseas business and is responsible for:

1. negotiating and executing contracts for international business cooperation, such as contracts for
cooperation with foreign education institutions in organizing international classes or courses;

2. investing in or acquiring overseas education businesses as and when appropriate;

3. holding the Group’s overseas intellectual property rights and licensing them to the Group’s
international partners; and

4. recruiting overseas education business professionals and advisers, and acting as the direct
employer of any personnel based outside the PRC.

The Company’s PRC Legal Adviser has advised that while Sino-foreign cooperative schools are to be
jointly established by both foreign and domestic educational institutions, it is currently uncertain as to
what specific criteria must be met by a foreign investor (such as length of experience and form and
extent of ownership in the foreign jurisdiction) in order to demonstrate that it meets the Qualification
Requirement. Based on the interviews conducted with the Education Department of Henan Province
and the steps that the Group has undertaken as mentioned above, the Company’s PRC Legal
Adviser is of the view that the Group has taken all reasonable steps towards fulfilling the Qualification
Requirement.

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations as set out above while availing ourselves to
international capital markets and maintaining effective control over all of the Group’s operations, on
7 September 2016, 1 September 2018 and 1 July 2019, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary,
WFOE, entered into various agreements that together constitute the Contractual Arrangements with,
among others, the Group’s consolidated affiliated entities, under which substantially all economic
benefits arising from the business of the Group’s consolidated affiliated entities are transferred to
WFOE to the extent permitted under the PRC laws and regulations by means of services fee payable
by the Group’s consolidated affiliated entities to WFOE.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) consider that the Contractual
Arrangements are fundamental to the Group’s legal structure and business operations and have
been entered into: () in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company; (i) on normal
commercial terms; and (i) in accordance with the respective contractual agreement governing
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them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The
Directors also believe that the Group’s structure whereby the financial results of the consolidated
affiliated entities are consolidated into the Company’s financial statements as if they were the
Company'’s subsidiaries, and the flow of economic benefits of their business to the Group places the
Group in a special position in relation to relevant rules concerning connected transactions under the
Listing Rules.

The Company believes the following risks are associated with the Contractual Arrangements.

o if the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish the structure for operating the
Group’s business do not comply with applicable PRC laws and regulations, it may subject us to
severe penalties and the Group’s business may be materially and adversely affected.

° Uncertainties exist in relation to the interpretation and implementation of Foreign Investment Law
(P A RTINS E %) effective from 1 January 2020 and how it may impact the viability of
our current corporate structure, corporate governance, business, financial condition and results
of operations.

° the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in providing control over the Group’s
consolidated affiliated entities as direct ownership.

° the beneficial owners of the Group’s consolidated affiliated entities may have conflicts of interests
with us, which may materially and adversely affect the Group’s business and financial situation.

° the exercise of the option to acquire the equity interest of the Group’s consolidated affiliated
entities may be subject to certain limitations and the Group may incur substantial costs.

e any failure by the Group’s consolidated affiliated entities or their respective shareholders to
perform their obligations under the Group’s Contractual Arrangements would potentially lead to
the incurrence of additional costs and the expending of substantial resources on the Group’s
part to enforce such arrangements, temporary or permanent loss of control over the Group’s
primary operations or loss of access to the Group’s primary sources of revenue.

° the Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny of the PRC tax authorities and
additional tax may be imposed, which may materially and adversely affect the Group’s results of
operation and value of the Shareholders’ investment.

e  certain terms of the Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable under PRC laws.

° the Company relies on dividend and other payments from WFOE to pay dividends and other cash

distribution to the Shareholders and any limitation on the ability of the WFOE to pay dividends to
the Company would materially and adversely limit its ability to pay dividends to the Shareholders.
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the Group’s consolidated affiliated entities may be subject to limitations on their ability to operate
private education business or make payments to related parties.

if any of the Group’s consolidated affiliated entities becomes subject to winding up or liquidation
proceedings, the Group may lose the ability to enjoy certain important assets, which would
negatively impact the Group’s business and materially and adversely affect its ability to generate
revenue.

Contractual Arrangements in Place
The Contractual Arrangements that were in place as at 31 August 2020 are as follows:

The 2016 Contractual Arrangements

On 7 September 2016, WFOE, YuHua Investment Management, the Registered Shareholders,
Zhengzhou YuHua Education Investments and Zhengzhou Zhongmei Education Investments entered
into the 2016 Contractual Arrangements, which consist of:

(@)
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exclusive management consultancy and business cooperation agreements dated 7 September
2016 and entered into by and between (i) WFOE, YuHua Investment Management and its
subsidiary and the Registered Shareholders; (i) WFOE, Zhengzhou YuHua Education Investments
and its subsidiaries and the Registered Shareholders; and (i) WFOE, Zhengzhou Zhongmei
Education Investments and its subsidiaries and the Registered Shareholders (the “2016
Exclusive Management Consultancy and Business Cooperation Agreements”), pursuant
to which WFOE has the exclusive right to provide, or designate any third party to provide each of
the Group’s consolidated affiliated entities with corporate management and educational services,
intellectual property licensing services as well as technical and business support services;

exclusive call option agreements dated 7 September 2016 and entered into by and between (i)
WFOE, YuHua Investment Management and the Registered Shareholders; (i) WFOE, Zhengzhou
YuHua Education Investments and the Registered Shareholders; and (i) WFOE, Zhengzhou
Zhongmei Education Investments and the Registered Shareholders (the “2016 Exclusive Call
Option Agreements”), pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders unconditionally and
irrevocably agreed to grant WFOE or its designated third party an exclusive option to purchase all
or part of the equity interests in the PRC Holdcos, as the case may be for the minimum amount
of consideration permitted by applicable PRC laws and regulations, under circumstances in
which WFOE or its designated third party is permitted under PRC laws and regulations to own all
or part of the equity interests of the PRC Holdcos. Where the purchase price is required by the
relevant PRC laws and regulations to be an amount other than nil consideration, the Registered
Shareholders shall return the amount of purchase price they have received to WFOE or its
designated third party;

equity pledge agreements dated 7 September 2016 and entered into by and between (i) WFOE,
YuHua Investment Management and the Registered Shareholders; (i) WFOE, Zhengzhou
YuHua Education Investments and the Registered Shareholders; and (i) WFOE, Zhengzhou
Zhongmei Education Investments and the Registered Shareholders (the “2016 Equity Pledge
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Agreements”), pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders unconditionally and unequivocally
pledged all of the equity interests in YuHua Investment Management, Zhengzhou YuHua
Education Investments and Zhengzhou Zhongmei Education Investments respectively, to
WFOE to guarantee (i) the performance of the obligations of YuHua Investment Management,
Zhengzhou YuHua Education Investments and Zhengzhou Zhongmei Education Investments and
their respective subsidiaries under the 2016 Exclusive Management Consultancy and Business
Cooperation Agreements, (ii) performance of their and the Registered Shareholders’ obligations
under the 2016 Exclusive Call Option Agreements and the 2016 Powers of Attorney (as defined
below); and

an irrevocable power of attorney executed by each of the Registered Shareholders dated 7
September 2016 (the “2016 Powers of Attorney”) appointing WFOE, or nominee(s) of WFOE
(excluding Mr. Li, Ms. Li or other non-independent persons or persons who may give rise to
conflicts of interests), as his or her attorney-in-fact to appoint directors and vote on his or
her behalf on all matters of YuHua Investment Management, Zhengzhou YuHua Education
Investments or Zhengzhou Zhongmei Education Investments requiring shareholders’ approval
under its respective articles of association and under the relevant PRC laws and regulations.

The 2018 Contractual Arrangements

On 1 September 2018, WFOE, YuHua Investment Management, the Registered Shareholders,
Zhengzhou Qinfeng Education Technology Co., Ltd., Kaifeng City Yubohui Education Information
Technology Consulting Co., Ltd. and Kaifeng City Xiangfu District Bowang High School entered into
the 2018 Contractual Arrangements, which consist of:

(@)

an exclusive management consultancy and business cooperation agreement dated 1 September
2018 between () WFOE, (i) Zhengzhou Qinfeng Education Technology Co., Ltd. (&8 %
HERH AR AR (“Zhengzhou Qinfeng”), (i) Kaifeng City Yubohui Education Information
Technology Consulting Co., Ltd. (AEMFEE#HE 5 EAAER 2 F]) (“Yubohui Education”),
(iv) Kaifeng City Xiangfu District Bowang High School (A MR RBEESY) (‘Bowang High
School”) and (v) the Registered Shareholders (the “2018 Exclusive Management Consultancy
and Business Cooperation Agreement”), pursuant to which Zhengzhou Qinfeng, Yubohui
Education, Bowang High School and the Registered Shareholders agreed to engage WFOE as
the exclusive service provider to provide Zhengzhou Qinfeng, Yubohui Education and Bowang
High School with corporate management consultancy services, education management
consultancy services, intellectual property licensing services as well as technical and business
support services in return for service fees;

an exclusive call option agreement dated 1 September 2018 between (i) WFOE, (i) Zhengzhou
Qinfeng and (iii) the Registered Shareholders (the “2018 Exclusive Call Option Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders granted WFOE an exclusive, unconditional and
irrevocable option to purchase from the Registered Shareholders all or part of the equity interests
in Zhengzhou Qinfeng;
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an equity pledge agreement dated 1 September 2018 between (i) WFOE, (ii) Zhengzhou Qinfeng
and (iii) the Registered Shareholders (the “2018 Equity Pledge Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Registered Shareholders unconditionally and irrevocably pledged all of his or her equity
interest in Zhengzhou Qinfeng to WFOE;

a power of attorney executed by each of the Registered Shareholders dated 1 September 2018
(the “2018 Powers of Attorney”) appointing WFOE, or nominee(s) of WFOE (excluding Mr. Li,
Ms. Li or other non-independent persons or persons who may give rise to conflicts of interests),
as his or her attorney-in-fact to appoint directors and vote on his or her behalf on all matters of
Zhengzhou Qinfeng requiring shareholders’ approval under its respective articles of association
and under the relevant PRC laws and regulations; and

power of attorney executed on 17 July 2019 by Zhengzhou Qinfeng (the “2019 Zhengzhou
Qinfeng Power of Attorney”) appointing WFOE (or any person designated by WFOE) as its
attorney-in-fact to appoint directors and vote on its behalf on all matters of Yubohui Education
and Bowang High School requiring shareholders’ or sponsors’ (as applicable) approval under its
articles of association and under the relevant PRC laws and regulations.

The 2019 Contractual Arrangements
On 1 July 2019 and 17 July 2019, WFOE, the Transferee, the Registered Shareholders and the Target
Group entered into the 2019 Contractual Arrangements, which consist of:

(@)
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an exclusive management consultancy and business cooperation agreement dated 1 July
2019 (together with the joinder agreements mentioned in item (f) below, the “2019 Exclusive
Management Consultancy and Business Cooperation Agreement”) between (i) WFOE, (ii)
the Transferee and (i) the Registered Shareholders, pursuant to which the Transferee and the
Registered Shareholders agreed to engage WFOE as the exclusive service provider to provide
the Transferee (and its subsidiaries from time to time) with corporate management consultancy
services, education management consultancy services, intellectual property licensing services as
well as technical and business support services in return for service fees;

an exclusive call option agreement dated 1 July 2019 (the “2019 Exclusive Call Option
Agreement”) between (i) WFOE, (i) the Transferee and (i) the Registered Shareholders,
pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders granted WFOE an exclusive, unconditional and
irrevocable option to purchase from the Registered Shareholders all or part of the equity interests
in the Transferee;

an equity pledge agreement dated 1 July 2019 (the “2019 Equity Pledge Agreements”)
between (i) WFOE, (ii) the Transferee and (iii) the Registered Shareholders, pursuant to which the
Registered Shareholders unconditionally and irrevocably pledged all of his or her equity interest in
the Transferee to WFOE;
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(d) powers of attorney executed on 1 July 2019 by each of Mr. Li and Ms. Li (the “2019 Powers
of Attorney”) appointing WFOE (or any person designated by WFOE, excluding Mr. Li, Ms. Li
or any other non-independent persons or persons who may give rise to conflicts of interests)
as his or her attorney-in-fact to appoint directors and vote on his or her behalf on all matters of
the Transferee requiring shareholders’ approval under its articles of association and under the
relevant PRC laws and regulations;

(e) power of attorney executed on 17 July 2019 by the Transferee (the “2019 Transferee Power
of Attorney”) appointing WFOE (or any person designated by WFOE) as its attorney-in-fact to
appoint directors and vote on its behalf on all matters of the Target Group requiring shareholders’
or sponsors’ (as applicable) approval under its articles of association and under the relevant PRC
laws and regulations; and

() joinder agreements executed on 17 July 2019 by each member of the Target Group (the
“2019 Target Group Joinder Agreements”), pursuant to which each member of the Target
Group agreed to join the 2019 Exclusive Management Consultancy and Business Cooperation
Agreement as a party, and assume all the obligations and enjoy all the rights of the subsidiaries
of the Transferee.

Apart from the above, there are no other new Contractual Arrangements entered into, renewed or
reproduced during the financial year ended 31 August 2020. There was no material change in the
Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted for the year
ended 31 August 2020.

For the year ended 31 August 2020, none of the Contractual Arrangements has been unwound
as none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of structured contracts under the Contractual
Arrangements has been removed.

The Company has been advised by its PRC Legal Adviser that the Contractual Arrangements do not
violate the relevant PRC regulations.

The Company’s management works closely with Mr. Li and Ms. Li and its external legal counsels and
advisors to monitor the regulatory environment and developments in PRC laws and regulations to
mitigate the risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements.

All of the Contractual Arrangements are subject to the restrictions as set out on pages 137 to 143 of
the Prospectus.
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Revenue and Assets subject to the Contractual Arrangements

For the year ended 31 August 2020, revenue of the Group subject to the Contractual Arrangements
amounted to approximately RMB1,658,594,000 (2019: RMB1,115,875,000). As at 31 August 2020,
total assets of the Group subject to the Contractual Arrangements amounted to approximately
RMB5,264,337,000 (2019: RMB4,907,855,000).

The annual transaction amount of continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 August
2020 is set out below.

Continuing Connected Transactions
Transactions of Xizang Yuanpei Information Technology Management Company Limited, a subsidiary
of the Company, provided to other domestic subsidiaries of the Company.

Annual
Transactions Annual Cap
RMB’000 RMB’000
Service fee 2,765 Not applicable, waived

Listing Rules Implications

The highest applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) under the Listing Rules in respect
of the transactions associated with the Contractual Arrangements are expected to be more than
5%. As such, the transactions will be subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange and Annual Review

The Stock Exchange has granted the Company a waiver from strict compliance with (i) the
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules in respect of the transactions under the Contractual Arrangements; (ii) setting an annual
cap; and (jii) limiting the term of the continuing connected transactions set out in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules for each of the continuing connected transactions.

Pursuant to the conditions of the waiver (the “Waiver Conditions”) granted to the Company at
the time of the IPO as described on pages 186 to 188 of the Prospectus, and on the basis that
the existing Contractual Arrangements of the Company (as described under the section headed
“Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus) provide an acceptable framework for the
relationship between the Company and its subsidiaries in which the Company has direct shareholding,
on the one hand, and the consolidated affiliated entities, on the other hand, the Company is permitted
to renew or reproduce the existing Contractual Arrangements with respect to any new wholly foreign
owned enterprise or operating company engaging in the same business as that of the Group, without
obtaining the approval of the Shareholders, on substantially the same terms and conditions as the
existing Contractual Arrangements.
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As the terms and conditions of the 2018 Contractual Arrangements and the 2019 Contractual
Arrangements are substantially the same as those of the contractual arrangements described under
the section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus, and the underlying businesses are
within the scope of the Group’s principal businesses — the provision of private education services
from kindergarten to university, the 2018 Contractual Arrangements and the 2019 Contractual
Arrangements therefore fall within the parameters of the Waiver Conditions.

Confirmation from Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company’s independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual Arrangements
and confirmed that (i) the transactions carried during year ended 31 August 2020 have been entered
into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements, (ii) no dividends or
other distributions have been made by the consolidated affiliated entities to the holders of its equity
interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group during the year
ended 31 August 2020, (ii) no new contracts were entered into, renewed or reproduced between
the Group and the consolidated affiliated entities during the year ended 31 August 2020, and (iv)
the Contractual Arrangements were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group on normal commercial terms or better and are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmations from the Company’s Independent Auditor
The Auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with respect to the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions entered into in the year ended 31 August 2020:

(@) nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor to believe that the disclosed
continuing connected transactions have not been approved by the Company’s Board of
Directors.

(b) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group, nothing has come to
their attention that causes the Auditor to believe that the transactions were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group.

(¢) nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor to believe that the transactions were
not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transactions.

(d) with respect to the aggregate amount of the continuing connected transactions set out in
the attached list of continuing connected transactions, nothing has come to their attention
that causes the Auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have
exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.
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During the year ended 31 August 2020, no related party transactions disclosed in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted a connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Company has complied
with the disclosure requirements prescribed in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions entered into by the Group during the
year under review.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

On 3 December 2019, the Company and Merrill Lynch (Asia Pacific) Limited (the “Manager”) entered
into a subscription agreement with respect to the 2024 Convertible Bonds (the “Subscription
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Manager agreed to subscribe and pay for, or to procure
subscribers to subscribe and pay for, the Firm Bonds in an aggregate principal amount of HK$2,024
million, on the terms and subject to the conditions set out therein. In addition, the Company has
granted to the Manager an option to require the Company to issue the Option Bonds up to a further
aggregate principal amount of HK$324 million, exercisable on one occasion, in whole or in part, at any
time on or before the 30th day after the Closing Date. The Manager has subsequently exercised its
option with respect to HK$64 million in aggregate principal amount of Option Bonds.

The principal terms of the 2024 Convertible Bonds are set out below:

Issuer: The Company

Form and Denomination: The convertible bonds are in registered form in the
denomination of HK$2,000,000 each and integral multiples of
HK$1,000,000 in excess thereof. Upon issue, the convertible
bonds will be represented by a global certificate registered
in the name of a nominee of, and deposited with, a common
depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV and Clearstream Banking

S.A.
Issue Price: 100% of the principal amount of the 2024 Convertible Bonds
Issue Size: The aggregate principal amount of the Firm Bonds will be

HK$2,024 million. In addition, the Company has granted to the
Manager an option to require the Company to issue the Option
Bonds up to a further aggregate principal amount of HK$324
million, exercisable on one occasion, in whole or in part, at any
time up to and including the 30th day after the Closing Date.

Maturity Date: 27 December 2024

Interest: 0.90% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrear on 27 June
and 27 December in each year.

Conversion Right: Subject as provided in the Conditions, each convertible bond
shall entitle the holder to convert such convertible bond into
Conversion Shares credited as fully paid at any time during
the conversion period referred to below. The number of
Shares to be issued on exercise of a Conversion Right shall be
determined by dividing the principal amount of the convertible
bonds to be converted by the Conversion Price in effect on the
relevant Conversion Date.
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Initial Conversion Price:

Adjustment upon Change
of Control:

The initial conversion price at which Conversion Shares will
be issued will initially be HK$7.1303 per Share, calculated at
a 34.0% premium to the reference share price of HK$5.3237,
being the number representing the higher of (i) HK$5.16, being
the closing share price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
on 3 December 2019 or (i) the arithmetic average of the volume
weighted average prices of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
on each of the five consecutive trading days commencing on
(and including) 4 December 2019 (i.e. HK$5.3237).

The conversion price will be subject to adjustment for, among
other things, upon the occurrence of consolidation, subdivision,
redesignation or reclassification, capitalisation of profits or
reserves, distributions, rights issues of shares or options over
shares at less than 95% of the current market price per Share,
rights issues of other securities, issues at less than 95% of the
current market price per Share, other issues at less than 95%
of the current market price per Share, modification of rights
of conversion at less than 95% of the current market price
per Share and other offers to Shareholders (collectively, the
“Adjustment Events”). Notwithstanding any of the Adjustment
Events, no adjustment to the conversion price shall be made for
any issuance of new Shares (a) pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme and (b) pursuant to the IFC Loan.

If a Change of Control shall occur, the Company shall give
notice of that fact to the bondholders (the “Change of Control
Notice”) within seven days after it becomes aware of such
Change of Control. Following the giving of a Change of Control
Notice, upon any exercise of conversion rights such that the
relevant conversion date falls within 30 days following a Change
of Control, or, if later, 30 days following the date on which the
Change of Control Notice is given to bondholders (such period,
the “Change of Control Conversion Period”), the Conversion
Price shall be adjusted in accordance with the following
formula:

OCP
1+ (CP x c/)

NCP =

Where:

“NCP” means the Conversion Price after such adjustment
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Initial Conversion Ratio:

Conversion Period:

Ranking of the Conversion Shares:
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“OCP” means the Conversion Price before such adjustment.
For the avoidance of doubt, OCP shall be the Conversion Price
in effect on the relevant conversion date

“CP” means conversion premium of 34.0% expressed as a
fraction

“c” means the number of days from and including the date the
Change of Control occurs to but excluding the Maturity Date

“t” means the number of days from and including the Issue
Date to but excluding the Maturity Date

292,834,803 Shares per HK$2,088,000,000 principal amount
of the 2024 Convertible Bonds at the initial conversion price of
HK$7.1303 per Share.

At the option of the Bondholder, at any time (a) on or after
the date which is 41 days after the Issue Date (both dates
inclusive) to the close of business (at the place where the
certificate evidencing the convertible bonds are deposited for
conversion) on the date falling seven days prior to the Maturity
Date (both days inclusive), (b) if the convertible bonds shall
have been called for redemption by the Company before the
Maturity Date, then up to and including the close of business
(at the place aforesaid) on a date no later than seven days
(in the place aforesaid) prior to the date fixed for redemption
thereof or (c) if notice requiring redemption has been given
by the bondholders, up to the close of business (at the place
aforesaid) on the business day (in the place aforesaid) prior to
the giving of such notice.

The Conversion Shares will be fully paid and will in all respects
rank pari passu with the fully paid shares of the Company then
in issue on the relevant date the holder is registered as such
in the Company’s register of members (the “Registration
Date”), except for any right excluded by mandatory provisions
of applicable law and except that such Conversion Shares will
not rank for any rights, distributions or payments the record or
other due date for the establishment of entitlement for which
falls prior to the relevant Registration Date.
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Redemption at Maturity:

Reference Share Price:

Redemption at the Option of
the Company:

Unless previously redeemed, converted or purchased and
cancelled, the Company will redeem each Convertible Bond at
100% of its principal amount together with accrued and unpaid
interest thereon on the Maturity Date.

HK$5.3237 per Share, being the higher of (i) HK$5.16, being
the closing share price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
on 3 December 2019 or (i) the arithmetic average of the volume
weighted average prices of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
on each of the five consecutive trading days commencing on
(and including) 4 December 2019 (i.e. HK$5.3237).

On giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice
to the Trustee and the principal agent in writing and to the
bondholders in accordance with the Conditions, at any
time after 1 March 2023 and prior to the Maturity Date, the
convertible bonds may be redeemed by the Company in
whole, but not in part, at their principal amount together with
any interest accrued up to but excluding the date specified
in the relevant optional redemption notice for redemption (the
“Optional Redemption Date”), provided that the closing price
of the Shares for each of 20 out of 30 consecutive trading
days, the last of which occurs not more than five trading days
prior to the date upon which the relevant optional redemption
notice is published was at least 130 per cent. of the conversion
price then in effect immediately prior to the date upon which the
relevant optional redemption notice is given.

On giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice
to the Trustee and the principal agent in writing, and to the
bondholders in accordance with the Conditions, the convertible
bonds may be redeemed by the Company in whole, but not
in part, on the date specified in the redemption notice at their
principal amount together with interest accrued up to but
excluding such date (if any), at any time if, prior to the date
the relevant redemption notice is given, conversion rights shall
have been exercised and/or purchases (and corresponding
cancelations) and/or redemptions effected in respect of 90%
or more in principal amount of the convertible bonds originally
issued.
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The convertible bonds may be redeemed, at the option of the
Company in whole, but not in part, at any time, on giving not
less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Trustee
and the principal agent in writing and to the bondholders in
accordance with the Conditions, on the date specified in the
relevant redemption notice for redemption at their principal
amount as at such date together with interest accrued up to
but excluding such date (if any), if the Company satisfies the
Trustee immediately prior to the giving of such notice that (i)
it has or will become obliged to pay additional tax amounts
as provided or referred in the Conditions as a result of any
change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of the
Cayman Islands, the PRC or, in any such case, any political
subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power
to tax, or any change in the general application or official
interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or
amendment becomes effective on or after 27 December 2019,
and (i) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Company
taking reasonable measures available to it, provided that no tax
redemption notice shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to
the earliest date on which the Company would be obliged to
pay such additional tax amounts were a payment in respect of
the convertible bonds then due.

On the redemption date, the Company shall redeem the
convertible bonds at their principal amount, together with
interest accrued up to but excluding the redemption date.

If the Company issues the relevant redemption notice, each
bondholder will have the right to elect that their convertible
bonds shall not be redeemed as provided in the Conditions,
whereupon no additional tax amounts shall be payable
pursuant to the Conditions and payment of all amounts shall be
made subject to the deduction or withholding of any taxation
required to be withheld or deducted.

Following the occurrence of a Relevant Event (as defined
below), each Bondholder will have the right at such holder’s
option to require the Company to redeem all or some only of
such Bondholder’s convertible bonds on the relevant date at
their principal amount together with interest accrued up to but
excluding such date.
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Negative Pledge:

Transferability:

Status:

A “Relevant Event” occurs when:

()  the Conversion Shares cease to be listed or admitted to
trading or are suspended from trading for a period equal
to or exceeding 20 consecutive trading days on the Stock
Exchange or an alternative stock exchange;

(i) less than 25% of the Company’s total numbers of issued
shares are held by public; or

(i) when there is a Change of Control.

The holder of each convertible bond will have the right at such
holder’s option, to require the Company to redeem all or some
only of such holder’s convertible bonds on 27 December 2022
(the “Optional Put Date”) at their principal amount together
with interest accrued up to but excluding such date. To
exercise such right, the Bondholder must deposit during normal
business hours at the specified office of any paying agent under
the agency agreement a duly completed and signed exercise
notice, in the form for the time being current, obtainable from
the specified office of any paying agent under the agency
agreement (an “Optional Put Exercise Notice”), together with
the certificate evidencing the convertible bonds to be redeemed
by not more than 60 nor less than 30 days prior to the Optional
Put Date. An Optional Put Exercise Notice, once delivered, shall
be irrevocable without the Company’s consent. The Company
shall redeem the Convertible Bonds the subject of the relevant
Optional Put Exercise Notice (subject to delivery of the relevant
certificate as aforesaid) on the Optional Put Date.

Applicable to the Company and its subsidiaries on the Relevant
Indebtedness (as defined in the Conditions).

The convertible bonds are freely transferable subject to
Conditions.

The 2024 Convertible Bonds constitute direct, unconditional,
unsubordinated and (subject to the Conditions) unsecured
obligations of the Company and shall at all times rank pari
passu and without preference or priority among themselves.

Assuming full conversion of the 2024 Convertible Bonds at the initial conversion price of HK$7.1303
per Share, the 2024 Convertible Bonds will be convertible into 292,834,803 Shares, with an
aggregate nominal value of HK$2,928.35 and a market value of HK$1,511,027,583.48 (based on
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the closing price of HK$5.16 on 3 December 2019, the date of the Subscription Agreement). The
net price of each Conversion Share for the Company based on the estimated net proceeds of
approximately HK$2,067 million and 292,834,803 Conversion Shares resulting from the conversion of
the convertible bonds, is estimated to be approximately HK$7.06.

On 24 February 2020, the conversion price of the 2024 Convertible Bonds was adjusted from the
initial conversion price of HK$7.1303 per Share to HK$7.0190 per Share. The maximum number of
Conversion Shares that will be issued upon conversion of all the outstanding 2024 Convertible Bonds
at the adjusted conversion price is 297,478,273 Shares. Further details of the price adjustment are set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 24 February 2020.

On 8 June 2020, the conversion price of the 2024 Convertible Bonds was adjusted from the initial
conversion price of HK$7.0190 per Share to HK$6.92 per Share. The maximum number of conversion
Shares that will be issued upon conversion of all the outstanding 2024 Convertible Bonds at the
adjusted conversion price is 301,734,104 Shares. Further details of the price adjustment are set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 28 and 29 May 2020.

The Directors are of the view that the issue of the 2024 Convertible Bonds can provide the Company
with additional funds at lower funding cost for acquisitions and general corporate purposes.

Further details of the issue of the 2024 Convertible Bonds are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 4 December 2019, 10 December 2019, 27 December 2019 and 29 December 2019.

Save for the repurchase of the January 2020 Convertible Bonds (former stock code: 5532) discussed
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Business Review” in this Annual
Report and the issue of the 2024 Convertible Bonds, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
or consolidated affiliated entities purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of the Company
during the year ended 31 August 2020.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Directors are not aware of any material litigation or claims that are pending or threatened against
the Group as of 31 August 2020.

BUILDING CERTIFICATES AND PERMITS

As at 31 August 2020, in relation to owned buildings or groups of buildings other than those
associated with the HIEU Schools (the “Non-HIEU Schools Owned Buildings”), the Group had
not obtained proper building ownership certificates or other requisite certificates or permits for 11
of the 32 Non-HIEU Schools Owned Buildings, due in part to changes to the urban planning in the
cities which the Group operates, administrative oversight by the Group’s management and their
unfamiliarity with the relevant regulatory requirements. The Group is in the process of applying to
relevant government authorities for the relevant outstanding certificates and permits and are closely
following up with the government authorities with respect to the applications. Please also refer to the
section headed “Business — Properties — Owned Properties — Buildings or Groups of Buildings” in
the Prospectus for further details. There have been no updates in this regard since the publication of
the Prospectus.
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As at 31 August 2020, the Company was in the process of applying for, but had not yet obtained, the
proper certificates in relation to 48 buildings currently occupied by the HIEU Schools. The Company
understands that the lack of certificates in relation to these buildings will not prejudice the ability of the
Company to operate the HIEU Schools and that the buildings are fit and safe for education purposes.
For further details, please refer to the Company’s circular dated 29 June 2018.

USE OF PROCEEDS

(a) Use of Net Proceeds from Global Offering
On 28 February 2017, the Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The net
proceeds from the IPO were approximately HK$1,488.3 million, which are intended to be applied
in the manner as set out in the Prospectus.

As at 31 August 2020, the Group had utilized the net proceeds as set out in the table below:

Utilization  Unutilized
Utilized Unutilized  during the amount
Net as at until  year ended as at

% of net proceeds 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August
proceeds from IPO 2019 2019 2020 2020
HK$'milion  HK$'million  HK$'milion HK$’million HK$’million

Expansion of our

school network 30% 446.5 446.5 0 — 0
Acquisition of K-12

schools and

universities 28% 416.7 416.7 0 - 0

Upgrade and
expansion of
school facilities
and capacity of

our existing

schools 25% 372.1 202.6 169.5 169.5 0
Supplementing our

working capital 10% 148.8 148.8 0 - 0
Repayment of

bank loans 7% 104.2 104.2 0 - 0
Total 100% 1,488.3 1,318.8 169.5 169.5 0
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(b) Use of Proceeds from the International Financial Corporation Loan

(c)

On 31 May 2018, the Company, China YuHua Education Investment Limited and China Hong
Kong YuHua Education Limited entered into a loan agreement with International Finance
Corporation, pursuant to which International Finance Corporation agreed to lend and the
Company agreed to borrow up to the principal amount of US$75 million, comprised of an initial
US$50 million tranche and a US$25 million tranche which shall, at the option of International
Finance Corporation, be convertible into conversion shares at a conversion price of HK$5.75 per
share. The conversion price was subsequently adjusted to HK$5.53 per share.

For further details, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 31 May 2018 and 4
February 2020.

As of 31 August 2020, the Company had drawn US$75 million from the loan facility; US$50.0
million of the total principal amount had been repaid to IFC and US$0.1 million of the total
principal amount was transferred to borrowings; and US$24.9 million of the total principal
amount had been converted into ordinary shares of the Company and issued to IFC in February
2020. For further details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 4 February 2020.

Utilization
Utilized Unutilized during the Unutilized
as at until year ended amount as

% of loan Amount of 31 August 31 August 31 August at 31 August
facility loan facility 2019 2019 2020 2020
US$’million US$’ million US$'million  US$million  US$’million

100% 75 0 75 0 0

Total 100% 75 0 75 0 0

Use of Proceeds from Issue of Convertible Bonds

On 27 December 2019, the Company completed the issuance of the 2024 Convertible Bonds,
being the 0.90% convertible bonds due 2024 in an aggregate principal amount of HK$2,088
million, of which the net proceeds amounted to approximately HK$2,062 million. As of 31 August
2020, the net proceeds of the issue of these convertible bonds had been utilised as set out
below:

Utilization
Net proceeds during the Unutilized
from the year ended amount as

% of net Convertible 31 August at 31 August
proceeds Bonds 2020 2020
HK$ milion HK$’ million HK$’ million

Repurchase of the existing convertible

bonds due January 2020 75.8% 1,564 1,564 0
General corporate purposes 4.8% 100 100 0
Potential acquisitions 19.4% 398 398 0
Total 100% 2,062 2,062
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of
the Directors as at the date of this Annual Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
percentage of public float under the Listing Rules.

LOAN AGREEMENT COVENANTS

As a condition to disbursement of the Loan, our chairman and ultimate controlling shareholder, Mr.
Li, and our chief executive officer Ms. Li, entered into the Share Retention Agreement pursuant to
which they will, among other things, be required to retain control over GuangYu Investment and,
through GuangYu Investment, the Company, for so long as any indebtedness under the Loan remains
outstanding. An equity pledge agreement was also entered into pursuant to which HongKong YuHua
will grant the International Financial Corporation a pledge over an equity interest representing 40% of
the registered capital of Xizang Yuanpei.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 31 May 2018 for more information about the
Loan Agreement.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the annual general meeting.

By the order of the Board

Mr. Li Guangyu
Chairman

Hong Kong
23 November 2020
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The Board consists of three executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Li Guangyu (Z}F), aged 57, was first appointed as a Director on 25 April 2016. He was re-
designated as an executive Director and appointed as the chairman of the Board and the chairman of
the nomination committee on 7 September 2016. Mr. Li also holds the following positions with other
members of the Group:

e  director of YuHua Investment Management (since 19 February 2000);
° director of Zhengzhou YuHua Education Investments (since 9 April 2004);

° chairman of the board of directors of Zhengzhou Technology and Business University (since 13
March 2009); and

° chairman of the board of directors of Zhengzhou Zhongmei Education Investments (since 21 July
2011).

Mr. Li has more than 17 years of experience in the education industry, and is the chairman of the
board of directors of the Zhengzhou Technology and Business University and Hunan International
Economics University, and all of the Group’s 25 private schools for grades K-12. In 2004, he was
selected as one of the ten outstanding figures in the private education industry in China (F Bl R #i# &
+ K EEH A¥) by Guangming Daily (£B8 H#R). In April 2010, Mr. Li received the National Outstanding
Worker Award (2B %i# T{E#E) from the State Council of the PRC. Mr. Li was also a member of
the National People’s Congress and the vice chairman of the China Association for Non-Government
Education (F B EHHE HE).

Mr. Li graduated from the Changchun Institute of Optics and Fine Mechanics (&% B2 1 2 # i £2
B, currently known as Changchun University of Science and Technology (K& T A&)) majoring in
laser technology in July 1983, and his master’s degree in Business Administration from the Guanghua
School of Management, Peking University (1t R K ZEE IR EPT) in June 2007.

Mr. Li is the father of Ms. Li Hua, the chief executive officer and executive Director.

Ms. Li Hua (Z72), aged 33, was first appointed as an executive Director and as the vice chairman of
the Board on 7 September 2016. Ms. Li is also the Company’s chief executive officer and holds the
following positions with other members of the Group:

° director of Zhengzhou Zhongmei Education Investments (since 21 July 2011); and

e director of Zhengzhou YuHua Education Investments (since 19 April 2016).
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Ms. Li has more than 9 years of experience in the education industry, and is a member of the board
of directors of the Zhengzhou Technology and Business University and Hunan International Economics
University, and all of the Group’s 25 private schools of grades K-12. Ms. Li worked as an officer at
Zhengzhou YuHua Elite School between March to July 2009, where she was responsible for managing
the daily operations and strategic planning of the school. From July 2009 to July 2010, Ms. Li was a
teaching assistant and counsellor at Zhengzhou Technology and Business University, where she was
responsible for lecturing and managing the counselling programme and student activities.

Ms. Li has been a committee member of the 12th Session of All-China Youth Federation (%22
SFBAEE+ —fE) since July 2015. She was also a representative of Henan Province for the 17th
Communist Youth League National Representative Conference (FEIETESFEE+H X E2ER
F K'&) and a representative of Xinzheng (#1ZF) for the 14th People’s Congress of Zhengzhou (ZB/M
mETUEARKERASE). In May 2012, Ms. Li received the Henan Province May Fourth Youth Prize
CAFE APUEF S 45#) from the Henan Communist Youth League (FEIHEFEA#EZ) and the
Henan Youth Federation (il @& & FB#4& €). She also received the Henan Province Individual Honour
for Innovative Women (A& FXZEIEFELEFALE) in July 2012 from the Henan Woman
Federation (A& im2cEt4A &) and the Outstanding Committee Member Honour (A% & FH#A
SEFZEZ BELHE) from the Henan Youth Federation in January 2013. In November 2014, Ms. Li was
awarded the Individual Award for Innovations in Henan Private Education (7] § & FE # 2k & 553 [E A 22
2 py the Henan Province Education Department (] B & (5 E2).

Ms. Li received her bachelor’s degree in Philosophy from Peking University in July 2010.

Ms. Li is the daughter of Mr. Li Guangyu, the chairman and executive Director.

Ms. Qiu Hongjun (EBALE), aged 54, was first appointed as an executive Director on 7 September
2016. Ms. Qiu is also the Group’s financial controller and vice president. She is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial affairs. Ms. Qiu also holds the following positions with other members
of the Group:

° director of Zhengzhou Zhongmei Education Investments (since 21 July 2011);

° director of Zhengzhou YuHua Education Investments (since 19 April 2016); and

° director of Hunan International Economics University (since 27 December 2017).

Ms. Qiu has more than 14 years of experience in the education industry, and is a member of the
board of directors of all the Group’s 25 private schools of grades K-12. From 2002 to 2004, she was
the deputy branch president of Nanjing branch of Shenzhen Development Bank (currently known as
Pingan Bank). Since joining the Group, Ms. Qiu has been overseeing the Group’s financial affairs and
has since then accumulated substantial financial experience.

Ms. Qiu received her diploma in Finance from the Central Radio and Television University (7 & & & E

RAE currently known as the Open University of China (BIZR F K E2)) (distance learning) in October
2003.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Lei (PR%), aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director and the
chairman of the audit committee effective on 16 February 2017. Mr. Chen is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgement to the Board. Mr. Chen is the Director who has the
appropriate professional accounting or related financial management expertise for the purpose of Rule
3.10(2) of the Listing Rules through his experience listed below.

Mr. Chen has been serving as an associate professor of accounting and assistant dean at the
Guanghua School of Management, Peking University since 2008. Mr. Chen served as an assistant
professor of accounting at Robinson College of Business, Georgia State University in the United
States from August 2004 to June 2008.

Mr. Chen currently serves as an independent non-executive director of Sugon Information Industry
Co., Ltd (BHEBEFXERMHAERAF), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 603019) (since May 2015), Huadian Heavy Industries Co., Ltd (EEBE TN AR LA, a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601226) (since July 2014) and Beijing
Da Bei Nong Technology Holdings Co., Ltd bt R AL ERHTEBRHERRAF]), a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002385) (since December 2013) and Hevol Services
Group Co. Limited (A1BAARTEE=EI B R A ]), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
6093) (since June 2019).

Mr. Chen received his bachelor’s degree in Economics from Tsinghua University, his master’s degree
in Economics from Indiana University and his doctorate degree in Accounting from the University of
Texas in Dallas in July 1996, September 1999 and August 2004, respectively.

Mr. Chen has been and remains responsible for the following areas in his capacity as an associate
professor of Accounting and a director listed companies, through which he has gained the financial
management expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules:

o lecturing on and teaching accounting, auditing and financial management related courses as an
associate professor of Accounting at Guanghua School of Management, Peking University;

° acting as the executive director of the master in Professional Accounting programme (€5T1E L+ %
¥ Z(7) at the Guanghua School of Management, Peking University; and

e acting as a specialist in audit committees of the listed companies in the preparation of their
financial statements, valuation analysis, participation in pricing and negotiation of transaction
terms, preparation of offer document disclosures and other related financial documents in
advance of their public offerings in the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock
Exchange.
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Mr. Xia Zuoquan (E{£%), aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
effective on 16 February 2017. Mr. Xia is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgement to the Board.

Mr. Xia is one of the founders of the BYD Group (tt 2R [E), and currently serves as a non-executive
director of BYD Company Limited, a rechargeable battery, handset components and automobile
manufacture listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1211) (since March 2008) and the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 002594) (since June 2002). He also currently serves as a director of
Guangdong Beizhi Cepin Network Technology Co., Ltd. (BREE BEASEHERHD AR A F) (since
June 2015), a technology company listed on the PRC National Equities Exchange and Quotations
(stock code: 833907). Mr. Xia is also the vice chairman (§32% &) of the BYD Charity Foundation
(FbEnmzEEE S ®). He also served as an independent non-executive director of China Baofeng
(International) Limited (FEIEZ (H[R) BRAF]), a company formerly listed on the Stock Exchange
which was subsequently delisted in September 2020 (stock code: 3966), from February 2016 to
September 2020.

Mr. Xia received his bachelor’s degree in Computer Science (correspondence course) from the Beijing
Institute of Iron and Steel Engineering (3L R #l# ZFc, currently known as the University of Science
& Technology for Beijing (1t mEHZAKE) in September 1987 and his master’s degree in Business
Administration from the Guanghua School of Management, Peking University in 2007.

Mr. Zhang Zhixue (FREZ8), aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director and
the chairman of the remuneration committee effective on 16 February 2017. Mr. Zhang is primarily
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to the Board.

Mr. Zhang has been a professor of Organisation and Strategic Management at the Guanghua School
of Management, Peking University since August 2008.

Mr. Zhang currently serves as an independent non-executive director of Ever-Glory International
Group, Inc. (since March 2008), a company listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: EVK). Mr. Zhang is
also currently an independent director of the Bank of Guizhou (&/N$8%7) and Sunshine Insurance
Group Inc. ((F3 R E B BR A 7]). He also served as an independent non-executive director of
Creative Distribution Automation Co., Ltd. Gt REHRALE B #LIRHD AR A F]), a company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002350), from March 2010 to March 2016.

Mr. Zhang received his bachelor’'s degree in Education from Henan University (A]FgAE3), his
master’s degree in Psychology from Beijing Normal University (1t RE0#3 X&) and his doctorate
degree in Philosophy from the University of Hong Kong in July 1988, July 1991 and December 1998,
respectively.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Xu Bin (#k3R), aged 37, was appointed as the Company’s chief financial officer on 1 January
2016 and joint company secretary on 7 September 2016. He is responsible for overseeing the
Company'’s financial affairs.

Before joining the Group, Mr. Xu was the vice president and co-chief financial officer of China Maple
Leaf Education Systems Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1317), from
16 February 2013 to 16 June 2015. He also worked as an accountant at Citco Financial Group,
an international financial services provider, from November 2007 to May 2010, and an investment
banking associate at Essence Securities Co., Ltd., a financial and securities brokerage services
provider based in China, from November 2011 to February 2013.

Mr. Xu received his bachelor’s degree in Economics and Finance from the University of Toronto,
Canada in November 2007 and a master’s degree in Finance from the University of Cambridge,
United Kingdom in May 2012.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Mr. Xu Bin (#R3g), one of the Company’s joint company secretaries, was appointed on 7 September
2016. He is also the Group’s senior management.

Ms. Leung Suet Wing (R Z %), one of the Group’s joint company secretaries, was appointed on 31
August 2018. Ms. Leung is a manager of TMF Hong Kong Limited, which is a corporate secretarial
services provider. She has over 9 years of professional experience in the company secretarial field.
She is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly known as the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in the United
Kingdom.

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information of Directors of the
Company are set out below:

Mr. Xia Zuoquan ceased to be an independent non-executive director of China Baofeng (International)
Limited (FEIEL (HEE) ARAF]), a company formerly listed on the Stock Exchange which was
subsequently delisted in September 2020 (stock code: 3966), on 7 September 2020.

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there is no other information required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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The Board of Directors is pleased to present the corporate governance report for the Company for the
year ended 31 August 2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high corporate governance standards. The Board believes
that high corporate governance standards are essential in providing a framework for the Group to
safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.

For the year ended 31 August 2020, the Company has complied with all applicable code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code, except as disclosed in this Annual Report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own securities dealing code to regulate all dealings
by Directors and relevant employees of securities in the Company and other matters covered by the
Model Code.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the relevant employees and they have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code during the year ended 31 August 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors.

The composition of the Board is as followings:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Guangyu (Chairman)
Ms. Li Hua (Vice Chairman)
Ms. Qiu Hongjun

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chen Lei

Mr. Xia Zuoquan

Mr. Zhang Zhixue

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 53 to 57 of this Annual Report.

Ms. Li is the daughter of Mr. Li. Save as disclosed, none of the members of the Board is related to
one another.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by Mr. Li and Ms. Li, respectively. The
Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of the
Board. The Chief Executive Officer focuses on the Company’s business development and the daily
management and operations generally. The respective responsibilities are clearly defined and set out
in writing.

BOARD MEETINGS, COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETING

Code provision A.1.1 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates that board meetings should be
held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of the
majority of the Directors, either in person or through electronic means of communications.

During the year ended 31 August 2020, four Board meetings and one general meeting were held.
The Company expects to continue to convene at least four regular meetings in each financial year
at approximately quarterly intervals in accordance with code provision A.1.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code.

A summary of the attendance record of the Directors at Board meetings, committee meetings and
general meeting is set out in the following table below:

Number of meeting(s) attended/number of
meeting(s) held for the year ended 31 August 2020

Audit  Remuneration Nomination General
Name of Director Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Executive Directors:
Mr. Li Guangyu 4/4 2/2 11 11 11
Ms. Li Hua 4/4 212 il 11 7l
Ms. Qiu Hongjun 4/4 212 11 11 11

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chen Lei 4/4 2/2 11 11 11
Mr. Xia Zuoguan 4/4 212 il 11 11
Mr. Zhang Zhixue 4/4 2/2 11 11 11

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors a written annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers each
of them to be independent. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years with effect from the date of the
Prospectus or until the third annual general meeting of the Company since the Listing Date (whichever
is sooner). Such letters of appointment were renewed on similar terms and effective from 16 February
2020 for another term of three years and will continue thereafter until terminated by either party giving
to the other not less than three (3) month’s prior notice in writing.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meeting.
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire
from office and be eligible for re-election at each annual general meeting, provided that every Director
is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. In addition, any new Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting and be subject to re-election.

Pursuant to article 16.18 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Li and Ms. Li will be subject to re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT
The Board is the primary decision making body of the Company and is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance and is collectively responsible for promoting
the success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board makes decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The Group’s senior management is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s
business and is responsible for overseeing the general operation, business development, finance,
marketing, and operations.

DIVIDEND POLICY

On 27 November 2018, the Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
accordance with the Corporate Governance Code, which outlines the factors that should be taken
into account in determining any dividend for distribution to the Shareholders. The Dividend Policy is
reproduced as follows:

DIVIDEND POLICY

1.  Subject to the Cayman Islands Company Law and the Articles of Association, the Board
of Directors has absolute discretion on whether to distribute dividends. In addition, the
Shareholders may by ordinary resolution declare dividends, but no dividend may be declared
in excess of the amount recommended by the Board. In either case, a dividend may only
be declared and paid out of the profits and reserves of the Company lawfully available for
distribution (including share premium), and in no circumstances may a dividend be paid if this
would result in the Company being unable to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business. Even if the Board decides to pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount
of dividends will depend on the Company’s future operations, cash flows, general financial
condition, capital adequacy ratio, cash dividends received from the invested portfolio ecosystem
partners, future business prospectus, statutory and regulatory restrictions on the payment of
dividends and other factors that the Board considers relevant.
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2. Any future dividend payments to the Shareholders will also depend upon the availability of
dividends received from our subsidiaries. PRC regulations may restrict the ability of our PRC
subsidiaries to pay dividends to the Company.

3.  The Company does not have a fixed dividend payout ratio. The Company currently intends to
retain most, if not all, of the available funds and any future earnings to operate and expand the
business.

4. If the Company pays any dividends on the Shares, unless and to the extent that the rights
attached to the Shares, or the terms of issue thereof otherwise provide, (i) all dividends will be
declared and paid according to the amounts paid up on the Shares in respect of which the
dividend is paid, but no amount paid up on Shares in advance of calls may for this purpose be
treated as paid up on the Shares; and (i) all dividends will be apportioned and paid pro rata
according to the amounts paid up on the Shares during any portion or portions of the period
in respect of which the dividend is paid. The Directors may deduct from any dividend or other
monies payable to any of the Shareholders all sums of money (if any) presently payable by such
Shareholders to the Company on account of calls, installments or otherwise.

5. The Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the Company’s financial and cash
flow position. It will continue to be reviewed by the Board from time to time and there can be no
assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount, if at all, for any given period.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. Each of these committees are established with defined written terms of reference. The terms
of reference of the Board committees are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
and the Corporate Governance Code. The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting, risk management and internal controls system of the Group, review
and approve connected transactions and to advise the Board.

The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen Lei, Mr.
Xia Zuoquan and Mr. Zhang Zhixue. Mr. Chen Lei is the chairman of the audit committee.

For the year ended 31 August 2020, the audit committee convened two meetings. The attendance
record of the Directors at meetings of the audit committee is set out in the table on page 59.

During the meeting(s), the audit committee:
o reviewed interim results of the Group for the six months ended 29 February 2020; and

° reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance procedures, internal control (including the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function and risk management and internal
control systems and processes).

Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules
and the Corporate Governance Code. The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to review
and make recommendations to the Board regarding the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses
and other compensation payable to the Directors and other senior management.

The remuneration committee comprises one executive Director, namely Ms. Li, and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Zhixue and Mr. Xia Zuoquan. Mr. Zhang Zhixue is the
chairman of the remuneration committee.

For the year ended 31 August 2020, the remuneration committee convened one meeting. The
attendance record of the Directors at meetings of the remuneration committee is set out in the table
on page 59.

During the meeting, the remuneration committee reviewed the Company’s policy and structure for
the remuneration of all the Directors and senior management and the remuneration packages of the

executive Directors and senior management of the Group.

Details of the remuneration payable to each Director of the Company for the year ended 31 August
2020 are set out in note 34 to the Financial Statements.
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The remuneration of the members of senior management by band for the year ended 31 August 2020
is set out below:

Number of
Remuneration bands (RMB) persons
10,000,001-20,000,000 0
1,000,001-10,000,000 8
0-1,000,000 1
Total 4

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a nomination committee in compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code. The primary duties of the nomination committee are to make recommendations to the Board on
the appointment of Directors and management of Board succession.

The nomination committee comprises one executive Director, namely Mr. Li, and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Zhixue and Mr. Xia Zuoquan. Mr. Li is the chairman of the
nomination committee.

For the year ended 31 August 2020, the nomination committee convened one meeting. The
attendance record of the Directors at meetings of the nomination committee is set out in the table on
page 59.

During the meeting, the nomination committee reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board and assessed the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity Policy”’) which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance.

Pursuant to the Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of aspects, including, but not limited to, gender, age, culture and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and regional
experience.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates to serve as a director of the Company, the nomination

committee would consider the above criteria necessary to complement the corporate strategy and
achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendations to the Board.
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The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement the Diversity Policy and review
such objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made
towards achieving those objectives. At present, the Board has not set any measurable objectives.

The nomination committee will review the Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Nomination Policy

On 27 November 2018, the Company also adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
in accordance with the Corporate Governance Code, which sets out the procedure for the selection,
appointment and reappointment of Directors containing the selection criteria and the Board
succession planning considerations. The Nomination Policy is reproduced as follows:

NOMINATION POLICY (THE “POLICY”)
OBJECTIVE

1.

64

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

The nomination committee is committed to ensuring that the Board of Directors has a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of
the Company’s business.

The nomination committee shall identify, consider and recommend suitable individuals to
the Board to consider and to make recommendations to the Shareholders for election of
Directors at a general meeting either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board.

The nomination committee shall make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning (the “Succession Planning”) for
Directors, in particular, the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company.

The nomination committee may, as it considers appropriate, nominate a number of
candidates more than the number of Directors to be appointed or re-appointed at a general
meeting, or the number of casual vacancies to be filled.

The ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of Directors rests with the entire
Board.

SELECTION CRITERIA

2.1

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the nomination committee
in assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate:

° reputation for integrity;

° professional qualifications and skills;
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° accomplishment and experience in the internet services and new retail markets;

° commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

° independence of proposed independent non-executive Directors; and

e  diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18 years or above),
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skKills,
knowledge, and length of service.

The above factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive.

The nomination committee has the discretion to nominate any person to the Board, as it
considers appropriate.

NOMINATION PROCEDURES

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

The secretary of the nomination committee shall call a meeting of the nomination
committee, and invite nominations of candidates from the Board, if any, for consideration by
the nomination committee prior to its meeting.

The nomination committee shall nominate candidates for the consideration and
recommendation of the board. the nomination committee may propose candidates who are
not nominated by the Board. The Board shall have the final decision on all matters in relation
to its nomination of any candidates to stand for election at a general meeting.

The candidate nominated by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting (the
“Board Candidate”, together with the Shareholder Candidate defined in paragraph 3.6
below, the “Candidate”) will submit the necessary personal information, together with his/
her written consent to be elected as a Director and to the publication of his/her personal
information for the purpose of or in relation to his/her standing for election as a Director. The
nomination committee may request the Board Candidate to provide additional information
and documents, if considered necessary.

A circular will be sent to the Shareholders (the “Shareholder Circular’) as to provide
information of the Board Candidate, and to invite nominations from the Shareholders. The
Shareholder Circular will include () the period for lodgment (the “Lodgment Period”) of
nominations by the Shareholders; (i) the personal information of the Board Candidate as
required by the applicable laws, rules and regulations, inter alia, name, brief biographies
(including qualifications and relevant experience), independence, proposed remuneration.

Until the issue of the Shareholder Circular, the Board Candidate shall not assume that he/
she has been nominated by the Board to stand for election at the general meeting.
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3.6

3.7

3.8

A Shareholder can serve a notice (the “Notice”) to the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) within the Lodgment Period to propose another person (the
“Shareholder Candidate”) other than the Board Candidate for election as a Director. The
Notice (i) must include the personal information of the Shareholder Candidate, as required
by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (ii) must be signed by the Shareholder concerned
and signed by the Shareholder Candidate indicating his/her consent to be elected and to
the publication of his/her personal information for the purpose of or in relation to his/her
standing for election as a Director. The particulars of the Shareholder Candidate will be sent
to the Shareholders for information by a supplementary circular.

The Candidate is allowed to withdraw his/her candidature at any time before the general
meeting by serving a notice in writing to the Company Secretary.

The resolution for election of Directors for the Shareholder Candidate shall take the same
form as for the Board Candidate.

SUCCESSION PLANNING

4.1

4.2

4.3

The objectives of Succession Planning are to ensure an effective and orderly succession
of Directors and to maintain the balance of diversity, collective knowledge and skills of the
Board necessary for the effective governance of the Company.

The following considerations will be used by the nomination committee in making
recommendations for the Succession Planning:

4.2.1 Required knowledge, skills and experience at a full Board composite level to effectively
fulfill the Board’s legal role and responsibilities;

4.2.2 An appropriate balance of diversity across the Board, as set out in Section 2.1 and
Section 4 of the Policy;

4.2.3 Personal qualities of each candidate with reference but not limited to the factors listed
in Section 2.1 of the Policy;

4.2.4 Continuity through a smooth succession of Directors; and

4.2.5 Compliance with the relevant legal and regulatory requirements.

The above considerations are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and
decisive. The nomination committee will review the Succession Planning together with the

Board periodically, and recommend revisions, if any, to the Board for consideration and
approval.
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5. CONFIDENTIALITY

Unless required by law or any regulatory authority, under no circumstances shall a member
of the nomination committee or an employee of the Company disclose any information to or
entertain any enquiries from the public with regard to any nomination or candidature before
the Shareholder Circular, as the case may be, is issued. Following the issue of the Shareholder
Circular, the nomination committee or the Company Secretary or other employee of the
Company approved by the nomination committee may answer enquiries from the regulatory
authorities or the public but confidential information regarding nominations and the Candidate
should not be disclosed.

6. MONITORING AND REPORTING
The nomination committee will report annually a summary of the Policy including the nomination
procedures, criteria for selection, the Diversity Policy and the progress made towards achieving
these objectives in the Company’s corporate governance report.

7. REVIEW OF THE POLICY
The nomination committee will review the Policy as appropriate and recommend revisions, if any,
to the Board for consideration and approval.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code.

The Board would review the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training and
continuous professional development of the Directors and senior management, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and the Company’s
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in its Corporate Governance Report.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. The joint company secretaries of the Company may from time to
time and as the circumstances require provide updated written training materials relating to the roles,
functions and duties of a director of a company listed on the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 August 2020.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS
Directors keep abreast of the responsibilities as a director of the Company and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company.

The Company acknowledges the importance of directors participating in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant internally-facilitated briefings for directors
have been arranged and reading material on relevant topics would be issued to directors where
appropriate. They are encouraged to attend relevant training course at the Company’s expenses.

The Company arranges regular seminars to provide Directors with updates on latest development and
changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.
The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the Company’s performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

During the year ended 31 August 2020, the key methods of attaining continuous professional
development by each of the Directors are summarized as follows:

Attending courses/ Reading books/
Name of Director seminars/conferences journals/articles
Executive Directors:
Mr. Li Guangyu v 4
Ms. Li Hua v v
Ms. Qiu Hongjun v 4
Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chen Lei v v
Mr. Xia Zuoquan v v
Mr. Zhang Zhixue v 4

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY AND REMUNERATION

The Company appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong
(“PricewaterhouseCoopers”) as the external auditor for the year ended 31 August 2020. A
statement by PricewaterhouseCoopers about their reporting responsibilities for the financial
statements is included in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 72 to 77.
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Details of the fees paid/payable in respect of the audit and non-audit services provided by
PricewaterhouseCoopers for the year ended 31 August 2020 are set out in the table below:

Fees paid

and payable

Services rendered for the Company RMB’000
Recurring audit and audit related services 4,796
Non-recurring services related to capital market transaction and 2,250

broader assurance service engagement

Non-audit services 30
Total 7,076

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. The risk management and internal control measures
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
Board had conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control system of the Company in respect of the year ended 31 August 2020 and considered the
system effective and adequate.

The Group has established an internal control department and each of its schools has designated the
relevant personnel who will be responsible for identifying and monitoring the Group’s risks and internal
control issues and reports directly to the Board of any findings and follow-up actions. Each of the
Group’s schools is required to adhere strictly to the Group’s internal control procedures and report to
the internal control team of any risks or internal control measures.

The Group has also adopted an information disclosure policy which sets out comprehensive
guidelines in respect of handling and dissemination of inside information. The Board is responsible for
monitoring and implementing the procedural requirements in the information disclosure policy. Release
of inside information shall be overseen by the Board. Unless authorised by the Board, staff members
of the Group are not permitted to disseminate inside information relating to the Group to any external
parties and are not permitted to respond to media or market speculation which may materially affect
the trading price or volume of the Shares on the market. Further, Ms. Qiu Hongjun and Mr. Xu Bin are
responsible for the internal audit of the Company.

In the ordinary course of the Group’s business, sensitive data is collected and stored, including,
among other things, identity information about our students and our employees, intellectual property,
and proprietary business information. The Group manages and maintains our applications and data
utilising on-site systems. These applications and data encompass a wide variety of business critical
information including commercial information, and business and financial information. The Group has
implemented relevant internal procedures and controls to ensure that such sensitive data is protected
and that leakage and loss of such data is avoided.
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The Company’s audit committee and management together monitor the implementation of our risk
management policies on an ongoing basis to ensure our policies and implementation are effective
and sufficient. Arrangements are in place to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks including
facilitating employees of the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company. Our management, under
the supervision of our Board or a committee of our Board takes reasonable steps to (i) monitor
compliance with the CG Code, and (ii) when appropriate, impose and enforce appropriate disciplinary
measures for violations of the CG Code.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Xu Bin, the joint company secretary, is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and ensuring that Board policy and procedures, and applicable laws, rules and
regulations are followed.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and
applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company also engages Ms. Leung Suet Wing, a manager of TMF
Hong Kong Limited, as the joint company secretary to assist Mr. Xu in discharging the duties of a
company secretary of the Company. Ms. Leung’s primary contact person at the Company is Mr.
Xu Bin, the chief financial officer of the Company. For the year ended 31 August 2020, Mr. Xu and
Ms. Leung have undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training respectively in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings (“EGM”) by Shareholders and Putting forward Proposals
Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene
an EGM. General meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any two or more
Shareholders deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

General meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of a Shareholder which is a
recognized clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
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If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to
convene the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the general
meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Putting forward Enquiries to the Board and Contact Details
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company, Shareholders may send written
enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the following:

Address: 31/F, Tower Two, Times Square
1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Telephone: +86 371 6067 3935
Fax: +86 371 6595 0708
Email: wangrui@yuhuachina.com

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is essential for enhancing
investor relations and investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular,
through annual general meetings and other general meetings. At the forthcoming annual general
meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) will be available to meet Shareholders and
answer their enquiries.

CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year ended 31 August 2020, the Company has not made any significant changes to its
constitutional documents.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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pwec T e R A i

To the Shareholders of China YuHua Education Corporation Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China YuHua Education Corporation Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 78 to 173, which comprise:

e the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 August 2020;

° the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended,;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant
accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 August 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2289 8888, Fax: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Income taxes for schools in People’s Republic of China (“China” or the “PRC”)

e Impairment assessment of goodwill and trademark with indefinite useful lives

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Income taxes for schools in China

Refer to Note 4(b) Critical accounting
estimates and judgments — Current and
deferred income taxes and Note 11 Income
tax credit to the consolidated financial
statements.

No corporate income tax has been
provided on the tuition and boarding
income during the year for all schools in
China within the Group as those schools
are eligible to the preferential tax treatment
based on the assessment made by the
management.  Significant  judgment s
required in determining the provision for
income taxes as there are uncertainties
in interpreting the relevant tax laws and
regulations in respect to the preferential tax
treatment enjoyed by the schools.

Each of the schools in China within the
Group have elected to be the private
schools which do not require reasonable
returns. Pursuant to the Implementation
Rules for the Law for Promoting Private
Education, private schools whose sponsors
do not require reasonable returns shall
be entitled to the same preferential tax
treatment as public schools, which are
exempt from corporate income tax based
on historical experiences. However,
there have been no rules specifying the
preferential tax treatment enjoyed by public
schools in Corporate Income Tax Law of
the People’s Republic of China or other
relevant tax rules and regulations.

Therefore, we focus on this area due to
the high level of management judgments
involved on whether the Group is subject to
the applicable preferential tax treatment on
the corporate income tax.

We assessed the reasonableness of the management’s
judgments by performing the following audit
procedures:

Confirmed their status as private schools which do
not require reasonable returns by:

e  Checking the legal documents such as the
registration documents and articles of all
schools;

e Reviewing the board meeting minutes and
financial statements to make sure no dividend
has been declared or paid by all schools;

Discussed with the Group’s PRC legal advisors
about the tax position taken by the schools within
the Group and obtained their legal opinions that
confirmed each of the schools is not required to
pay corporate income tax to its respective tax
authorities and it is in compliance with applicable
laws and regulations in China that those schools
enjoy such preferential tax treatments;

Interviewed with the local tax bureaus of selected
schools to confirm that each of them could enjoy
the preferential income tax treatment and should
be exempt from the corporate income tax, also
there is no violation of PRC tax laws;

Assessed the eligibility of the preferential tax
treatment of selected schools with the assistance
of the internal tax experts by reviewing the
applicable tax laws and regulations, any new
policies or rules, and historical tax returns filed to
assess if the management’s understanding and
interpretation could be supported.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the
management’s judgments on the preferential tax
treatment enjoyed by the schools were supported by
the audit evidences we obtained.

73

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill and
trademark with indefinite useful lives

Refer to Note 4(c) Critical accounting
estimates and judgments — Estimation
of goodwill impairment and trademark
impairment and Note 14(b) Intangible
assets — Impairment tests of goodwill and
trademark to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group recognised goodwill and
trademark in an aggregate of RMB1,085
million and RMB409 million (Note 14(b))
respectively as at 31 August 2020 arising
from a number of prior years’ acquisitions.

The impairment reviews of goodwill
and trademark, which have indefinite
useful lives, are undertaken by the

management annually in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in Note 2.8
to the consolidated financial statements.
The recoverable amounts of the cash-
generating units (“CGUs”) have been
determined by management based on
value in use calculations. The trademarks
are used to support the operation of
CGUs and they should be tested with the
associated operating CGUs. The value in
use calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by
the management which involve the use
of judgment applied by the management,
such as determining revenue growth rates,
earnings before interest and tax margin
(“EBIT margin”), long-term growth rate and
discount rate. No goodwill and trademark
impairment was made after management’s
assessment.

Due to the significant balances of
goodwill and trademark and management
judgments and estimation involved in
assessing the potential impairment of
goodwill and trademark, we considered it
as a key audit matter.

The procedures performed to assess the methodologies

and assumptions
impairment assessment of goodwill

used by management in the
and trademark

include the followings. We:

Evaluated management’s future cash flow
forecasts and the process by which they were
drawn up and compared the management’s
forecasts to the Board approved budget;

Tested the mathematical accuracy of the
underlying value in use calculations of the CGUs;

Assessed the appropriateness of the valuation
models and the discount rate, with the assistance
of our internal valuation specialists, taking into
account the cost of capital of the Group and
comparable organisations in the industry;

Compared revenue growth rates and EBIT margin
from the latest five-year strategic plans with
historical financial information, budget and those of
comparable companies;

Compared the long-term growth rates with the
economic forecasts in China and Thailand;

Checked the management’s sensitivity analysis on
the key drivers of the cash flow forecast, including
revenue growth rates, EBIT margin, long-term
growth rate and discount rate.

Based upon the above procedures, we considered that
the management’s goodwill and trademark impairment
assessment was supported by available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the financial information and management discussion and
analysis (but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon),
which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the company profile, corporate
information, directors and senior management information, report of directors, corporate governance
report, environmental, social and governance report and financial summary, which are expected to be
made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do
not and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date
of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the company profile, directors and senior management, report of directors, corporate
governance report, environmental, social and governance report and financial summary, if we
conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to
Audit Committee and take appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for
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no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Peter Man Kam
Tsang.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 November 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Year ended 31 August

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
Revenue B 2,409,352 1,714,485
Cost of revenue 8 (940,737) (714,592)
Gross profit 1,468,615 999,893
Selling expenses 8 (47,125) (22,352)
Administrative expenses 8 (239,233) (199,957)
Net impairment losses on financial assets (7,192) (682)
Other income 6 29,071 23,144
Other losses — net 7 (792,010) (233,191)
Operating profit 412,126 566,855
Finance income 10 28,728 52,719
Finance expenses 10 (129,935) (78,051)
Finance expenses — net (101,207) (25,332)
Profit before income tax 310,919 541,523
Income tax credit 11 10,230 13,542
Profit for the year 321,149 555,065
Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company 203,838 484,955
Non-controlling interests 117,311 70,110
321,149 555,065
Earnings per share attributable to owners of
the Company (RMB Yuan)
Basic earnings per share 12 0.06 0.15
Diluted earnings per share 12 0.06 0.15

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 August
2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit for the year 321,149 555,065

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Currency translation differences 5,026 24,662

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Changes in the fair value related to the changes in

the liability’s credit risk of convertible bonds 26 47,418 —
Changes in the fair value of equity investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income (3,323) —
Remeasurements of
post-employment benefit obligations 9 1,403 —
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 50,524 24,662
Total comprehensive income for the year 371,673 579,727

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company 254,362 509,617
Non-controlling interests 117,311 70,110
371,673 579,727

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As at 31 August

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 183 3,792,348 3,705,965
Intangible assets 14 1,550,944 1,570,379
Right-of-use assets 13(b) 1,927,981 —
Prepaid land lease payments - 1,651,195
Other non-current assets 16 11,109 20,639
Total non-current assets 7,282,382 6,948,178
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 17 57,211 81,231
Restricted cash 18(b) 154,372 291,716
Term deposits with initial term of over three months 19 - 333,131
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 88 50,000 —
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income — 3,323
Cash and cash equivalents 18(a) 2,175,197 2,125,719
Total current assets 2,436,780 2,835,120
Total assets 9,719,162 9,783,298
Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 21 28 28
Share premium 21 1,546,308 1,803,948
Other reserves 22 974,417 776,896
Retained earnings 1,109,469 1,080,192

3,630,222 3,661,064
Non-controlling interests 459,190 482,511
Total equity 4,089,412 4,143,575
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 25 633,326 506,979
Deferred tax liabilities 15 510,835 521,065
Lease liabilities 13(b) 31,101 —
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 26 2,301,148 149,349
Deferred income 97,739 5,758
Total non-current liabilities 3,574,149 1,183,151
Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables 24 616,168 963,014
Contract liabilities B 924,507 1,301,163
Lease liabilities 13(b) 5,833 =
Borrowings 25 509,093 1,065,394
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 26 - 1,127,001
Total current liabilities 2,055,601 4,456,572
Total liabilities 5,629,750 5,639,723
Total equity and liabilities 9,719,162 9,783,298

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 78 to 173 were approved by the Board of Directors
on 23 November 2020 and were signed on its behalf.

Li Hua Qiu Hongjun
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the Company
Statutory  Share-based Other Non-
Sharg Sharg Capital suplus ~ payments  Treasury comprehensive  Retained controling

capital ~ premium resene resene resene shares income ~ eamings Totdl  inferests
Nots (Note2)  (Notet)  (Note22fa) (Note 22()
RMBOO  RVBOO  RWBOMO  RVBOOO  RWBOOO  RMBOO  RVBOD  RMBOMD  RMBOO  RWBON

At1 September 2018 B 2041 1M L% %0 (M%) @640 T damdd B9 379NE
Total comprehensive income
Proft for the year - - - - - - % 1% 010 56508

Qther comprefiensive income: - - - - - - 24,66 - 24,66 - 24,66

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 24562 484,955 §09617 1010 N

Transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners
Acauistion of subsiares - - - - - - - - - 18622 12862
Prot appropiaion fo satutory
SUpls resenves 2 - - - 166903 - - - [166%)) - - -
Snare-hesed compensztion 3 - - - - 010 - - - 010 - 010
Exercise of share opfions - 37568 - - (37,56 - - - - - -
Didends disrbution % - eaom) - - - - - - [eaom) - eaom)
- %659 - 166903 205 - - [6%y  pR% 1862 (%3
At 31 August 2019 B 10098 f0M6 o8 02 (7)) T8 1080190 3geI0er  AR5H 41436
At 31 August 2019 B 180004 150046 GT280T 00412 (A7) (798 1000492 3661064 dB25H 41435
Change i accountng polcy 22 - - - - - - - (1424 (1424 - (1424
At1 September 2019 B 10008 f0M6 o8 f04T2 (IMT) (e 1078768 360640 4B2S1 414 H
Total comprehensive income
Proft forthe year - - - - - - - %% 3% M 321,149
Other comprehensiie icome - - - - - - 50524 - 50,54 - 5054
Total comprehgnsive income for the year - - - - - - 5054 203,63 264362 111314 311,613
Transaction with owners in
their capacity as owners:
Conversion et o the IFG Loan % - 166,610 - - - - - - 166,610 - 166,610
Gonversion rlated o the Prior Converle Bonds % - 10803 - - - - - - 10803 - 10803
Proft apropiation o sefutory Surpus reserves 2 - - - 113487 - - - (in - - -
Shere-based compensation B - - - - 2899 - - - 899 - 2899
Exercie ofshare opfions - 30,0% - - (30,056) - - - - - -
Transactons with non-onfoling nfrests Bl - - (26,096) - - - - - (509 (039  (165728)
Diidends citrouton % - (45089 - - - - - - 45069 - 4506y
- (eTed) (B8 1A (1,044 - SN 11 O X 11 (/Y
At31 August 2020 B 1M6N8 1400 604 1048 (14T 816 1109460 3630222 450000 4089412

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 August

Note 2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 27 1,123,177 1,302,886
Interest paid (120,055) (563,294)
Interest received 5,528 —
Net cash generated from operating activities 1,008,650 1,249,592

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment of prepaid land lease payments (273,807) —
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (359,877) (179,951)
Purchases of intangible assets (3,611) (2,547)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (450,000) (4,875,990)
Disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 400,351 4,875,990
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired - (1,567,316)
Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries of prior years (194,900) —
Purchases of term deposits with initial term of over three months - (317,419)
Disposal of term deposits with initial term of over three months 333,131 414,680
Changes in restricted cash 137,344 (10,229)
Interest received 30,042 58,463
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 27(a) 3,123 1,783
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets 44 —
Proceeds from/(net cash disposed upon) disposal of subsidiaries 2,160 (1,247)
Refund of prepaid land lease payments - 284
Payments for the assignment of creditor’s rights - (124,372)
Net cash used in investing activities (376,000) (1,727,871)

Cash flows from financing activities
Issuance of convertible loans - 167,702
Issuance of convertible bonds 26(a) 1,876,402 810,938
Payment of convertible bonds issuance costs (18,756) —
Redemption of convertible bonds 26(b) (1,388,768) —
Proceeds from borrowings 1,220,000 846,980
Repayments of borrowings (1,615,500) (445,538)
Principal elements of lease payments or finance lease payments (6,696) (2,692)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the Company 35 (465,089) (364,077)
Transactions with non-controlling interests 30 (165,728) —
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (564,135) 1,013,313
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 68,515 535,034
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 2,125,719 1,593,177
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents (19,037) (2,492)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 2,175,197 2,125,719

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying

notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

China YuHua Education Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) provide private formal full-coverage education services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and the Kingdom of Thailand (“Thailand”) (the “Business”).

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 25 April 2016 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised), of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office is at the
offices of Maples Corporate Services Limited at PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, the Cayman Islands. The ultimate holding company of the Company is GuangYu
Investment Holdings Limited. The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr. Li Guangyu,
who is also an executive director and Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company (the
“Controlling Shareholder”).

The Company’s shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 28
February 2017 (the “Listing”).

The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and rounded to nearest thousand
Yuan, unless otherwise stated.

Key events

On 27 December 2019 (the “Issue Date”), the Company completed the issuance
of convertible bonds due in December 2024 with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$2,088,000,000 at 0.90% per annum (the “Convertible Bonds due 2024”). The cash
proceeds related to the issuance of RMB1,876,402,000 was received by the Group on 27
December 2019.

Details were set out in Note 26.

On 27 December 2019, the Company redeemed and cancelled all outstanding balance
related to the convertible bonds due in January 2020 with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$928,000,000 at 3.00% per annum (the “Prior Convertible Bonds”). The cash payment
related to the redemption of RMB1,388,768,000 was made by the Group on 27 December
2019.

Details were set out in Note 26.

On 31 May 2018, the Group entered into a loan agreement with International Finance
Corporation (“IFC” or the “Borrower”), pursuant to which IFC agreed to lend and the
Company agreed to borrow up to the principal amount of US$75 million, comprised of an
initial US$50 million tranche (the “Initial Tranche”) and a US$25 million conversion tranche
(the “Convertible Loan”) that can be convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HK$5.75 per share at the option of IFC (the “IFC Loan”).
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GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Key events (Continued)

On 30 January 2020, the Borrower converted the Convertible Loan of US$24.9 million
pursuant to the agreement, and the remaining Convertible Loan of US$0.1 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB686,000) was transferred to borrowings. On 10 January
2020, the Initial Tranche of US$50 million (equivalent to approximately RMB346,750,000)
was repaid by the Group.

Details were set out in Note 25 and Note 26.

On 4 August 2020, the Group acquired the remaining 10% of the issued shares of
Jinan Shuangsheng Education Consulting Co., Ltd., a previously 90% subsidiary held
by the Group at a transaction consideration of RMB165,728,000. Immediately prior to
the transaction, the carrying amount of the existing 10% non-controlling interests in
Jinan Shuangsheng Education Consulting Co., Ltd. was RMB140,632,000. The Group
recognized a decrease in non-controlling interests of RMB140,632,000 and a decrease
in equity attributable to owners of the parent of RMB25,096,000. Upon completion of the
transaction, the Group held 100% of the issued shares of Jinan Shuangsheng Education
Consulting Co., Ltd.

Details were set out in Note 30.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the laws of Hong Kong).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation

2.1.1 Historical cost convention
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, which are carried at fair value.

2.1.2New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for
their annual reporting period commencing 1 September 2019:
e |FRS 16 Leases
o Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation — Amendments to IFRS 9
° Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures — Amendments to IAS 28
e Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle
e Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement — Amendments to IAS 19
o Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
The Group had to change its accounting policies and make certain retrospective
adjustments following the adoption of IFRS 16 and the impact of the adoption of these
standards and the new accounting policies are disclosed in Note 2.2 below. The other

standards did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are
not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

The following new and amended standards and interpretations are effective for the
fiscal year beginning on 1 September 2020 and have not been early adopted by the

Group:
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on
Amendments to Definition of Material 1 September 2020
IAS 1 and IAS 8
Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business 1 September 2020
Conceptual Framework Conceptual Framework for 1 September 2020
for Financial Reporting  Financial Reporting
Amendments to IFRS 9, Interest rate benchmark reform 1 September 2020
IAS 39 and IFRS 7
Amendments to IFRS 16 COVID-19-related rent concessions 1 September 2020
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are
not mandatory for 31 August 2020 reporting periods and have not been early adopted
by the Group. These standards are not expected to have a material impact on the
entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

This note explains the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases on the Group’s financial
statements and also discloses the new accounting policies that have been applied from 1
September 2019, where they are different to those applied in prior periods.

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 retrospectively from 1 September 2019, but has not
restated comparatives for the 2019 reporting period, as permitted under the specific
transitional provisions in the standard. The reclassifications and the adjustments arising
from the new leasing rules are therefore recognised in the opening balance sheet on 1
September 2019. The new accounting policies are disclosed in Note 2.25.

On adoption of IFRS 16, the Group recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which
had previously been classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of IAS 17 Leases.
These liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 September 2019. The
weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1
September 2019 was 7.2%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
For leases previously classified as finance leases, the entity recognised the carrying
amount of the lease asset and lease liability immediately before transition as the carrying
amount of the right-of-use assets and the lease liability at the date of initial application. The
measurement principles of IFRS 16 are only applied after that date. The remeasurements
to the lease liabilities were recognised as adjustments to the related right-of-use assets
immediately after the date of initial application.

(i)  Measurement of lease liabilities

1 September
2019

RMB’000

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 August 2019 52,002

Discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate of

at the date of initial application 34,112
Add: finance lease liabilities recognised as at 31 August 2019 21,760
(Less): short-term leases recognised on a straight-line basis as expense (3,628)
(Less): low-value leases recognised on a straight-line basis as expense (2,170)
Lease liability recognised as at 1 September 2019 50,074
Of which are:

Current lease liabilities 8,834

Non-current lease liabilities 41,240

50,074

(ii) Measurement of right-of-use assets

The associated right-of-use assets for property leases were measured on a
retrospective basis as if the new rules had always been applied. Other right-of use
assets were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in
the balance sheet as at 1 September 2019. There were no onerous lease contracts
that would have required an adjustment to the right-of-use assets at the date of initial
application.

31 August 1 September

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Buildings 51,837 68,155
Leasehold land 1,875,670 1,651,195
Vehicles 474 963
Total right-of-use assets 1,927,981 1,720,313
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
(i) Adjustments recognised in the balance sheet on 1 September 2019

The change in accounting policy affected the following items in the balance sheet on 1
September 2019:

° property, plant and equipment — decreased by RMB31,475,000
° prepaid land lease payments — decreased by RMB1,651,195,000
e right-of-use assets — increased by RMB1,720,313,000

e trade and other receivables — decreased by RMB2,450,000

° other non-current assets — decreased by RMB6,967,000

° borrowings — decreased by RMB21,760,000

° lease liabilities — increased by RMB50,074,000.

The net impact on retained earnings on 1 September 2019 was a decrease of
RMB1,424,000.

Lessor accounting
The Group did not need to make any adjustments to the accounting for assets held as
lessor under operating leases as a result of the adoption of IFRS 16.

2.3 Subsidiaries

2.3.1

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date
that control ceases.

(a) Business combination

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially
at their fair values at the acquisition date.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

Business combination (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation are measured at either fair
value or the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by IFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying
value of the acquirer’'s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from
such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the
contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised
in accordance with IAS 39 in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held interest measured is less than the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between
Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with
the Group’s accounting policies.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(b) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions — that is, as transactions with the owner in
their capacity as owner. The difference between fair value of any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling

interests are also recorded in equity.

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is re-
measured to its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying
amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as
an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
IFRS. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive

income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes
direct attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by

the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a
dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount
of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

2.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the senior executive management team, including the Controlling

Shareholder and other Directors that make strategic decisions.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(“the functional currency”). Since the majority of the assets and operations of the
Group are located in the PRC, the consolidated financial statements is presented in
RMB, which is the functional currency of the subsidiaries carrying out the principle
activities of the Group in the mainland of the PRC. The functional currency of
subsidiaries in Thailand is Thai Baht (“THB”). The functional currency of the Company
and subsidiaries outside mainland of the PRC and Thailand is Hong Kong Dollar
(“HKD”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
except when deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow hedges
or qualifying net investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash
equivalents are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within “finance
income or expenses’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income within ‘Other (losses)/gains — net’.

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

() assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

(i) all resulting currency ftranslation differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net
investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit or
loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
Currency translation differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprise mainly buildings, leasehold improvements, motor
vehicles, electronic equipment, furniture and fixtures are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses (if any). Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost may
also include foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

— Buildings 25-50 years

— Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease terms and estimated useful lives
— Motor vehicles 5-8 years

— Electronic equipment 4-8 years

— Furniture and fixture 5-8 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the
carrying amount and are recognised within ‘Other (losses)/gains — net’ in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction-in-progress (“CIP”) represents buildings, plant and machinery under
construction or pending installation and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses (if any). Cost includes the costs of construction and acquisition and capitalised
borrowing costs. No provision for depreciation is made on CIP until such time as the
relevant assets are completed and ready for intended use. When the assets concerned are
available for use, the costs are transferred to the respective categories of property, plant
and equipment and depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated above.

2.7 Intangible assets

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the excess of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over
the fair value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination
is allocated to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units
to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying amount
of goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in
use (“VIU”) and the fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”). Any impairment is
recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Separately acquired trademarks are shown at historical cost. Trademarks acquired in a
business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Trademarks
arising from the acquisitions of LEI Lie Ying Limited and Jinan Shuangsheng Education
Consulting Co., Ltd. have indefinite useful life. Trademark arising from the acquisition of
Thai Education Holdings Co., Ltd. has 10 years of useful life.

Impairment reviews of trademarks with indefinite useful life are undertaken annually
or more frequently and impairment reviews of trademarks subject to amortisation are
undertaken if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of trademarks is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the
higher of VIU and FVLCD.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.7 Intangible assets (Continued)

Acquired software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire
and bring the specific software into usage. These costs are amortised using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives varying from 5 to 10 years. Costs
associated with maintaining software programmes are recognised as an expense as
incurred.

The student base refers to acquired schools’ registered and existing students, who
are expected to pay tuition and boarding fees until their graduation. The student base
will be generating income for schools in the tuition periods, thus it is identified as an
intangible asset based on its fair value on the acquisition date. The student base is
amortised using the straight-line method over the respective period until the graduation
of the existing students.

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not
ready to use are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s FVLCD and
VIU. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the
cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (CGUs). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9 Investments and other financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income (“OCI”), or through profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or
loss or other comprehensive income. For investments in equity instruments that are
not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt and equity investments when and only when its business
model for managing those assets changes.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date,
the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

e  Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented
in other gains/(losses), together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or

loss.

° FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within other

gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the
Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from
such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in other gains/
(losses) in the statement of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal
of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 17 for further details.

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty.

2.11 Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial liability at the time the guarantee
is issued. The liability is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher of:

° the amount determined in accordance with the expected credit loss model under IFRS
9 Financial Instruments and

° the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of

income recognised in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Financial guarantee contracts (Continued)

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on the present value of the
difference in cash flows between the contractual payments required under the debt
instrument and the payments that would be required without the guarantee, or the
estimated amount that would be payable to a third party for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of associates are provided for no
compensation, the fair values are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of
the cost of the investment.

2.12 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from students of university for services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair
value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. See Note 17 for further information about the Group’s accounting for trade
receivables and Note 3.1 for a description of the Group’s impairment policies.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term,
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in
current liabilities in the balance sheet.

2.14 Share capital and shares held for employee share scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where the Company’s shares are acquired from the market by the China Yuhua Employees
Benefit Trust under the employee share scheme, the total consideration of shares acquired
from the market (including any directly attributable incremental costs) is presented as
shares held for employee share scheme and deducted from total equity. Upon vesting, the
related costs of the vested shares for employee share scheme purchased from the market
are credited to shares held for employee share scheme, with a corresponding decrease in
employee share-based compensation reserve for employee share scheme.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.15 Accruals and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to
the end of financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually
paid within 30 days of recognition. Accruals and other payables are presented as current
liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are
recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.16 Borrowings
Borrowings including the initial tranche of convertible loans are recognised initially at fair
value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the
loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In
this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as
a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss as other income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

2.17 Borrowing costs
General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.18 Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Company can be converted into the share capital of the
Company at the option of the investor.

The Group designates convertible bonds denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the Company as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
They are initially recognised at fair value. In the subsequent measurement, the amount of
change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit
risk of that liability shall be presented in other comprehensive income, and the remaining
amount of change in the fair value of convertible bond shall be presented in profit or loss.

The convertible bonds are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months after the
balance sheet date.

2.19 The convertible tranche of convertible loans

The convertible tranche of convertible loans issued by the Company can be converted into
the share capital of the Company at the option of the investor.

The Group designates the convertible tranche of convertible loans denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the Company as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss. They are initially recognised at fair value. In the subsequent
measurement, the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability shall be presented in other
comprehensive income, and the remaining amount of change in the fair value of convertible
bond shall be presented in profit or loss.

The convertible tranche of convertible loans is classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months
after the balance sheet date.

2.20 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s
taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to
unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on
the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will
be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

2.21 Employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits that are expected to
be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the
end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as current liabilities in the
balance sheet.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.21 Employee benefits (Continued)

The entities within the Group registered in the PRC make employee benefit
contributions based on certain percentage of the salaries of the employees to a
defined contribution retirement benefit plan and medical benefit plan organised by
relevant government authorities in the PRC on a monthly basis. The government
authorities undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations payable to the
existing and future retired employees under these plans and the Group has no further
obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions made. Contributions to
these plans are expensed as incurred. Assets of the plans are held and managed by
government authorities and are separate from those of the Group.

The PRC employees of the Group are also entitled to participate in various
government-sponsored housing funds. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to
those funds based on a certain percentage of the employee’s salaries. The Group’s
liabilities in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions payable in each period.
The non-PRC employees are not covered by the housing funds.

Pension obligations

The liability or asset recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit
pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the
reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is
calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the
estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that
are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms
approximating to the terms of the related obligation. In countries where there is no
deep market in such bonds, the market rates on government bonds are used.

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of
the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is included in
employee benefit expense in the statement of profit or loss.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes
in actuarial assumptions are recognised in the period in which they occur, directly in
other comprehensive income. They are included in retained earnings in the statement
of changes in equity and in the balance sheet.

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from plan
amendments or curtailments are recognised immediately in profit or loss as past
service costs.
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2.22 Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation plans,
under which the entity receives services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

° including any market performance conditions (for example, an entity’s share
price);

° excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the requirement
for employees to save or holding shares for a specified period of time).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to vest based on the non-marketing performance and
service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any,
in the statement of profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services in advance of
the grant date and therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for the purposes of
recognising the expense during the period between service commencement period
and grant date.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds
received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the employees
of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair
value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair
value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity accounts.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 103



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2
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2.23 Revenue recognition

Revenues are recognised when, or as, the control of the goods or services is transferred
to the customer. Depending on the business model, terms of the contract and the laws
applicable, control of the goods and services may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the
period of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation.

The Group’s service income includes tuition fees and boarding fees from university, high
schools, middle schools, primary schools and kindergartens and property management
service fee.

Tuition and boarding fees are generally received in advance prior to the beginning of each
academic year, and are initially recorded as contract liabilities. Tuition and boarding fees are
recognised proportionately over the terms of the applicable program. The portion of tuition
and boarding payments received from students but not earned is recorded as contract
liabilities. Amounts which will be earned within one year is reflected as a current liability, and
those which will be earned beyond one year is reflected as a non-current liability.

Property management service fee is recognised based on the actual service provided to the
end of the reporting period as a proportion of the total services to be provided because the
customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously.

Revenue from research projects and training programs are recognised proportionately over
the terms of the applicable projects or programs, where applicable as other education
services.

Revenue from school hospital service and other service are recognised at a point at time
when the control of the services have transferred, being when the services are accepted by
the customers.
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2.24 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

° the profit attributable to owners of the company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares

e Dby the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the
year and excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic
earnings per share to take into account:

° the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

e the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.25 Leases
As explained in Note 2.2 above, the Group has changed its accounting policy for leases
where the Group is the lessee. The new policy is described below and the impact of the
change in Note 2.2.

Until 31 August 2019, leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group, as lessee,
had substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership were classified as finance leases
(Note 13(b)). Finance leases were capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value of
the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, were included in other short-term
and long-term payables. Each lease payment was allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost was charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases was depreciated over the
asset’s useful life or over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term if there is
no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership were not
transferred to the Group as lessee were classified as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) were charged to
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 105



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.25 Leases (Continued)

From 1 September 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the
Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative
stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has
elected not to separate lease and non-lease components and instead accounts for these as
a single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis.
Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable

° variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using
the index or rate as at the commencement date

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise
that option, and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in
the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
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2.25 Leases (Continued)
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as
a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit
risk for leases held by the Group, which does not have recent third-party financing,
and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on
an index or rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect. When
adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is
reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is
charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received

° any initial direct costs, and
o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.
While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are presented within property, plant and
equipment, it has chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of

low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
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2.25 Leases (Continued)

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised in income on
a straight-line basis over the lease term (Note 13(b)). Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised
as expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The respective leased
assets are included in the balance sheet based on their nature. The Group did not need to
make any adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor as a result of adopting
the new leasing standard.

2.26 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s Shareholders is recognised as a liability in the
Group’s and the Company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s Shareholders or Directors, where appropriate.

2.27 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included in non-current
liabilities as deferred government grants and are credited to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

2.28 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in the net fair value gains/(losses)
on these assets, see note 7 below.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost and financial assets at FVOCI
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss as part of other
income.

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned from financial assets that
are held for cash management purposes, see note 10 below. Any other interest income is
included in other income.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a loan and
receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount,
being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the
instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on
impaired loans and receivables is recognised using the original effective interest rate.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial risks and how these risks could affect the
Group’s future financial performance. Current year profit and loss information has been included
where relevant to add further context.

Exposure arising from Measurement

Market risk — foreign exchange = Recognised financial assets and  Sensitivity analysis
liabilities not denominated in

RMB

Market risk — interest rate Borrowings carried at floating Sensitivity analysis
rates

Credit risk Cash and cash equivalents, Ageing analysis

restricted cash, term deposits ~ Credit ratings
with initial term of over three
months, and trade and other
receivables
Liquidity risk Borrowings and other liabilities Maturity analysis

The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
The Group regularly monitors its exposure and currently has not used any derivative financial
instruments to hedge any of these financial risks.

3.1 Financial risk factors
(a) Market risk
(i)  Foreign exchange risk
The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the transaction settled
in RMB. The functional currencies of the subsidiaries in mainland of the PRC
and Thailand is RMB and THB respectively, while the functional currency of
the Company and subsidiaries outside mainland of the PRC and Thailand is
HKD. Both the entities in and outside mainland of the PRC have assets and
liabilities like cash at bank and on hand, short-term bank deposits, term deposits
with initial term of over three months, interest receivables and other payables
denominated in USD, HKD, THB or Malaysian Ringgit (“MYR”). Foreign exchange
risk arises from the fluctuation in exchange.

The Group has continued to closely track and manage its exposure to fluctuation
in foreign exchange rates confronted by the majority of the Group’s deposits
and term deposits with initial term of over three months denominated in foreign
currencies during the year. The Group did not enter into any forward contract to
manage its exposure to foreign exchange risk for the year.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)
(i)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued)
As at 31 August 2020 and 2019, the carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary
assets and liabilities that are denominated in currency other than functional
currency of the respective group entities are as follows:

As at 31 August 2020 As at 31 August 2019
MYR UsD usD YR UsD 1) RVB
(functional (functional (functional (functional (functional (functional (functional (functional

cUrency - cumency - cumency-  curemcy-  Cumency—  cutency—  cUtency—  curmency -
RMB) HKD) RMB) HKD) RVB) HKD) RVB) )
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Cash at bank
and on hand - 8,890 11,645 - - 8,651 18725 -

Short-term
bank deposits - 763,060 - - - 937,894 - -

Cash and
cash
equivalents - 711,950 11,645 - - 946,545 13725 -

Term deposits
with initial
term of over
three months - - - - - 333131 - -

Interest
recelvables - 110 - - - 7,968 - -

Accruals
and other
payables 27 - 1,200 134,712 27 - 10943 260,000

As shown in the table above, the Group is primarily exposed to changes in USD/
HKD and USD/RMB exchange rates. The sensitivity of profit or loss to changes in
the exchange rates arises mainly from USD denominated financial instruments.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

Year ended 31 August

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000

Impact on post tax profit

USD/RMB exchange rate — weaken 5% (522) (139)
USD/RMB exchange rate — strengthen 5% 522 139
USD/HKD exchange rate — weaken 5% (38,603) (64,382)
USD/HKD exchange rate — strengthen 5% 38,603 64,382
RMB/HKD exchange rate — weaken 5% 6,736 13,000
RMB/HKD exchange rate — strengthen 5% (6,736) (13,000)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent
from changes in market interest rate. Borrowings carried at floating rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk, which is partially offset by cash held at
variable rates, whereas borrowings carried at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest-rate risk.

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate changes at the end of
the reporting period is as follows:

As at 31 August 2020 As at 31 August 2019
% of total % of total

RMB’000 borrowings RMB’000  borrowings

Variable rate borrowings 692,418 60.61% 563,503 35.84%

An analysis by maturities is provided in Note 3.1(c). The percentage of total
loans shows the proportion of borrowings that are currently at variable rates in
relation to the total amount of borrowings. At 31 August 2020, if the interest rates
on bank borrowings and cash and cash equivalents had been 50 basis points
higher/lower, with all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit for the year
would have been RMB3,462,000 (2019: RMB2,818,000) lower/higher.

The Group’s borrowings carried at fixed rates are all repayable within one year
and hence the Group is not subject to any significant fair value interest rate risk.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk

(i)

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. The Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk is the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash, term deposits with initial term of over three months, and trade and other
receivables shown on consolidated balance sheets.

As at 31 August 2020, 7% (2019: 13%) of the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, term deposits with initial term of over three months
were held in state-owned financial institutions, which management believes are
of high credit quality. The rest are deposited in local banks or financial institutions
with good reputation. Management does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these counterparties.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group has three types of financial assets that are subject to the expected
credit loss model:

° trade receivables for provision of services;
° other receivables carried at amortised cost; and
o debt and equity investments carried at FVOCI.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements
of IFRS 9, no impairment loss was identified.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit
losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 August 2020 and 31 August 2019 was
determined as follows for trade receivables:

Within More than

1 year 1-2 years 2 years
31 August 2020 past due past due past due

Expected loss rate 4% 100% 100%
Gross carrying amount —

trade receivables

(RMB’000) 11,242 541 102 11,885
Loss allowance (RMB’000) 464 541 102 1,107

Within More than

1 year 1-2 years 2 years
31 August 2019 past due past due past due

Expected loss rate 2% 100%
Gross carrying amount —

trade receivables

(RMB’000) 18,626 102 = 18,728
Loss allowance (RMB’000) 449 102 — 551

As at 31 August 2020, specific provisions of RMB1,784,000 (2019: nil) have been
provided against trade receivables of RMB2,973,000 (2019: nil).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
The loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 August reconcile to the
opening loss allowances as follows:

Year ended 31 August

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Opening loss allowance at 1 September (551) (195)
Increase in loss allowance recognised in

profit or loss during the year (7,192) (682)

Receivables written off during the year
as uncollectible 4,852 326
Closing loss allowance at 31 August (2,891) (551)

Other receivables carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its other receivables. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.
Other receivables at amortised cost include loans to related parties and key
management personnel and other receivables. The loss allowance for other
receivables at amortised cost was not material during the year ended 31 August
2020.

Debt and equity investments carried at FVOCI

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its debt and equity instruments carried at FVOCI. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk. No loss allowance was recognized for the debt and equity investments
carried at FVOCI.

Year ended 31 August

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000

Impairment losses
Movement in loss allowance for trade receivables 7,192 682

Net impairment losses on financial assets 7,192 682
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk
To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group expects to
fund its future cash flow needs through internally generated cash flows from operations
and bank borrowings.

The maturity analysis of borrowings that shows the remaining contractual maturities
is disclosed in Note 25. Generally there is no specific credit period granted by the
suppliers but the related payables are normally expected to be settled within three
months after receipt of goods or services.

As at 31 August 2020, the Group has cash and cash equivalents of approximately
RMB2,175,197,000 (2019: RMB2,125,719,000) (Note 18), no term deposits with initial
term of over three months (2019: RMB333,131,000) (Note 19) and trade receivables of
approximately RMB14,858,000 (2019: RMB18,728,000) (Note 17) that are expected to
readily generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted

cash flows.

Contractual maturities Less than Between Between Over

of financial liabilities 1 year 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years five years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 31 August 2020
Borrowings (principal plus

interests) 549,707 251,030 424,236 - 1,224,973
Convertible bonds 16,635 16,635 1,898,202 - 1,931,472
Lease liabilities 6,044 4,253 19,288 17,314 46,899
Accruals and other

payables

(excluding non-financial

liabilties) 465,483 - - - 465,483

1,037,869 271,918 2,341,726 17,314 3,668,827
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Contractual maturities of Less than Between Between Over

financial liabilities 1 year 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years five years Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

As at 31 August 2019
Borrowings (principal plus
interests, excluding

finance leases) 1,119,055 217,836 280,412 73,082 1,690,385
Convertible bonds 874,575 - - - 874,575
Convertible loans 33,614 57,751 106,024 - 197,389
Finance Leases 3,464 3,464 10,392 6,927 24,247
Accruals and other

payables

(excluding non-financial

liabilities) 814,297 - - - 814,297

2,845,005 279,051 396,828 80,009 3,600,893

3.2 Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to:

e safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that they can continue to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and

° maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell

assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the
following ratio:

Total liability (as shown in the balance sheet)

divided by
Total asset (as shown in the balance sheet)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.2 Capital management (Continued)
The liability-to-asset ratios of the Group as at 31 August 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

As at 31 August

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Total liabilities 5,629,750 5,639,723
Total assets 9,719,162 9,783,298
The liability-to-asset ratio 57.9% 57.6%

3.3 Fair value estimation

(a) Fair value hierarchy
This section explains the judgments and estimates made in determining the fair values
of the financial instruments that are recognised and measured at fair value in the
financial statements. To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Group has classified its financial instruments into the three
levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An explanation of each level follows
underneath the table.

Recurring fair value measurements Level 3 Total
At 31 August 2020 RMB’000 RMB’000
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note) 50,000 50,000
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

(Note 26) 2,301,148 2,301,148

Recurring fair value measurements Level 3 Total
At 31 August 2019 RMB’000 RMB’000
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

income 3,928 8,028
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 1,276,350 1,276,350
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Note: The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 August 2020 amounted to
RMB50,000,000 are wealth management products purchased from banks with expected rates of
return ranging from 2.10% to 3.20% per annum for the year ended 31 August 2020. The principals
and returns on all of these wealth management products are not guaranteed, hence their contractual
cash flows do not qualify for solely payments of principal and interest. Therefore, they are measured at
fair value through profit or loss. The fair values are based on cash flow discounted using the expected
return based on management estimation and are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for recurring fair value measurements
during the year. For transfers into and out of level 3 measurements see (b) below.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy levels
as at the end of the reporting period.

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as
publicly traded derivatives, and trading and available-for-sale securities) is based on
quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used
for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are
included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market
(for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques
which maximise the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on
entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market
data, the instrument is included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities.

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 financial assets for the years ended
31 August 2020 and 31 August 2019:

Year ended 31 August

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

At beginning of the year 3,323 =

Additions 450,000 4,875,990

Acquisition of subsidiary - 3,594

Settlements (400,351) (4,897,852)

Gains and losses recognised in profit or loss (Note 7) 351 21,862
Gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive

income (3,323) (271)

At end of the year 50,000 8,828
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(b) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3) (Continued)

The following table presents the movement in level 3 financial liabilities for the year
ended 31 August 2020:

Convertible Prior  Convertible
Bonds due  Convertible Loans under
2024 Bonds IFC Loan Total

(Level 3) (Level 3) (Level 3) (Level 3)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at 1 September 2019 — 1,102,110 174,240 1,276,350
Additions 1,876,402 — — 1,876,402
Settlements — (1,388,768) — (1,388,768)
Conversion into fully paid ordinary

shares — (10,808) (166,610) (177,413)
Conversion into to an ordinary loan — — (686) (686)
Gains and losses recognised in

profit or loss 499,605 300,338 (4,437) 795,506

Gains recognised in other
comprehensive income —
changes in fair value that is
attributable to changes to the

liability’s credit risk (47,418) — — (47,418)
Exchange difference (27,441) (2,877) (2,507) (82,825)
Balance at 31 August 2020 2,301,148 - — 2,301,148

As at 31 August 2020, the carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets, including
cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and trade and other receivables, and
financial liabilities, including accruals and other payables, approximated their fair values
due to the short maturities.

The fair value of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is estimated by
discounting the future cash flows at the current market interest rate available for similar
financial instruments.

The fair value of the financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss is determined

by reference to the valuation performed by an independent valuer using the Binomial
Method.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(b) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3) (Continued)
The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant
unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value measurements:

Relationship of

Convertible Fair value Unobservable unobservable inputs to

bonds due 2024 RMB’000 inputs fair value

As at Issue Date 1,876,402 Dividend yield: 3.00% Increased dividend yield 1%
Volatility: 42.20% would decrease fair value by

Risk free rate:1.67% RMB24,751,000;

Bond yield: 5.52%
Increased  volatility 1%
would increase fair value by
RMB10,335,000;

Increased risk free rate
0.33% would increase fair
value by RMB960,000;

Increased bond vyield 1%
would decrease fair value by
RMB52,382,000;

As at 31 August 2,301,148 Dividend yield: 3.00% Increased dividend yield 1%
2020 Volatility: 43.83% would decrease fair value by
Risk free rate: 0.27% RMB32,071,000;
Bond yield: 4.92%
Increased  volatility 1%
would increase fair value by
RMB9,596,000;

Increased risk free rate
0.06% would increase fair
value by RMB257,000;

Increased bond vyield 1%
would decrease fair value by
RMB39,197,000;
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

For the financial assets, including level 3 fair values, the Group’s finance department
performs the valuations. The finance department reports directly to the chief financial
officer (CFO). Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the
CFO and finance department semi-annually, in line with the Group’s semi-annual
reporting dates.

The valuation technique is discounted cash flows. Future cash flows are estimated and
discounted using the expected yield rate with reference to the benchmark yield rate of
the financial investment products of banks.

4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and judgments concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Contractual Arrangements

The Group conducts a substantial portion of the business through YuHua Investment
Management Co., Ltd, Zhengzhou YuHua Education Investments Co., Ltd, Zhengzhou
Zhongmei Education Investments Co., Ltd, (collectively the “PRC Investment Holding
Companies”) and their wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively the “Consolidated Affiliated
Entities”) in the PRC due to regulatory restrictions on the foreign ownership in the Group’s
schools in the PRC. The Group does not have any equity interest in the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities. The Directors assessed whether or not the Group has control over the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities, has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. After assessment, the Directors concluded that
the Group has control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities as a result of the contractual
agreements and accordingly the financial position and their operating results of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities are included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
throughout the year.

Ne